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PART 1
NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form [10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities

Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that refate to future events or our
furure financial performance. You can identify forward-tooking statements by terminology such as “may,” "might,” "will,”
“could.” “should.” "would,” "expeci,” “plan,” “anticipate,” "believe," “estimate,” “predict,” “intend," “poiential " or
“continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Our actual results might differ materially from any
forward-looking statement due 1o various risks, nncertainties and contingencies, including but not limited to those idenrified in
ltem 14 entitled "Risk Faciors™ beginning on page 18 of thix report, as well us those discussed in our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the following:

* & & @

our need for, and our ability 1o obiain, additional funds:

uncertainties relating to clinical trials and regulatory reviews and approvals,

our dependence on a limited number of therapetiic compounds:

the carly siage of the product candidates we are developing;

the acceptance of any future producis by physicians and patients;

competition with and dependence on colluborative partners;

loss of key consultants, management or scientific personnel:

our ability to obtain adequate intellectual property protection and 10 enforce these rights; and
our ability to avoid infringement of the intellectual property rights of others.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking stalements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee
JSuiure resulis, levels of activity, performance or achievements. We discluim any intention or obligation to update or revise any
Jorward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Item 1, Business,

General

Acolus Pharmaceuticals, lnc. (“we” or the “Company™), a Southern California-based biopharmaceutical company, is
developing a new class of catalytic antioxidant compounds for diseases and disorders of the central nervous system, respiratory
system, autoimmune system and oncology. Our initial target opplications are for the side effects of mustard gas exposure, cancer
radiation therapy and amyotrophic lateral scierosis, also known as “ALS™ or "Lou Gehrig's disease.” We have reported positive
safety results from two Phase ! clinical trials of AEOL 10150, our lead drug candidate, with no serious adversc events noted.

We were incorporaied in the State of Delaware in 1994, Our cornmon stock trades on the OTC Bulletin Board under the
symbol “AOLS.” Our principal executive offices are located at 23811 Invemess Place, Laguna Niguel, Califomia 92677, and our
phone number at that address is (949) 481-9825. Qur website address is www.aeoluspharma.com. However, the information on, or
that can be accessed through, our website is not pant of this report. We also make available free of charge through our website our
most recent annual report on Form 10-K, quanterly reports on Form 1(-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to
those teports, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is elecironically filed with or fumished 1o the SEC.

Aeolus’ Catalytic Antioxidant Program

The findings of research on natural antioxidant enzymes and antioxidant scavengers support the concept of antioxidants as a
broad new class of pharmaccuticals i certain limitations noted below could be overcome. We established our research and
development program to explore and exploit the therapeutic potential of small molecule catalytic antioxidants. We have achieved
our initial research objectives and have begun to extend our preclinical accomplishments into our clinical trials.

Our catalytic antioxidant program is designed to:
Reuain the catalytic mechanism and high antioxidant efficiency of the natural enzymes, and

create and develop stable and small molecule antioxidants without the limitations ol superoxide dismutases (“SOD™) so

that they:

o]

o
=
O

have broader antioxidant activity,

have better tissuc penetration,

have a longer life in the body, and

are not proteins, which are more difficult and expensive to manufacture.

We have created a class of small molecules that consume free radicals catalytically; that is, these molecules are not
themselves consumed in the reaction. QOur class of compounds is a group of manganoporphyrins (an antj-oxidant containing
manganese) that retain the benefits of anioxidant enzymes, are active in animal models of disease and, unlike the body’s own
enzymes, have propertics that make them suitable drug developmeni candidates. Our most advanced compound, AEOL 10150,
has shown cfficacy in a varety of animal models, including ALS, siroke, radiation injury, pulmonary diseases, and diabetes. We
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filed an Investigational New Drug Application ("IND”) for AEOL 10150 in April 2004 under which clinical trials were conducted
as more fully described below under the heading “AEOL 10150 Clinical Development Program.” For a more detailed description
of antioxidants see the section below titled “Background on Antioxidants.”

AEOL 10150

Our lead drug candidate is AEOL 10150 and is the first in our ciass of calalytic antioxidant compounds to enter clinical
evaluation. AEOL 10150 is a small molecule catalytic antioxidant that has shown the ability to scavenge a broad range of reactive
oxygen species, or free radicals. As a catalytic antioxidant, AEOL 10150 mimics and thereby amplifies the body’s natural
enzymatic systems for eliminating these damaging compounds. Because oxygen-derived free radicals are belicved to have an
important role in the pathogenesis of many discases, we believe that Aeolus’ catalytic antioxidanis and AEOL 10150 may have a
broad range of potential therapeutic uses. In particular, our catalytic antioxidants have been shewn to significantly reduce tissue
damage in animal models of ALS, radiation therapy, mustard gas exposure, stroke and chronic obstructive pulmonary discase for
which we have focused on mustard gas exposure, radiation therapy and ALS. However, further development of AEOL 10150 in
radiation therapy and ALS wil) be dependent on the results of our ongoing study of AEOL 10150 for the treatment of mustard gas
cxposure.

AEOL 10150 in Radiation Therapy

According to the American Cancer Society, cancer is the second leading cause of death by disease representing one out of
every four deaths in the United States with an expected 560,000 Americans expected to die of cancer in 2007. In 2007, nearly 1.4
million new cancer cases are expected to be diagnosed in the United States. The National Institutes of Health (*NIH”) estimates
overall costs of cancer in 2006 in the United States at $206.3 billion: $78.2 billion for direct medical costs, $17.9 billion for
indirect morbidity costs and $110.2 billion for indirect mortality costs.

Combinations of surgery, chemotherapy and radiation treatments are the mainstay of modern cancer therapy. Success is often
determined by 1he ability of patients to tolerate the most aggressive, and most effective, treatment regimens. Radiation therapy-
induced toxicity remains a major factor which limits the ability to escalate radiation doses in the treatment of tumors. The ability -
to deliver optimal radiation therapy for treatment of tumors without injury to surrounding normal tissue has important implications
in oncology because higher doses of radiation therapy may improve both local tumor control and patient survival, Advances in the
tools of molecular and cellular biology have enabled rescarchers to develop a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms
responsible for radiation therapy-induced normal tissue injury. For decades ionizing radiation has been known to increase
producticn of free redicals, which is reflected by the accumulation of oxidatively damaged cellular macromolecules. As one
example of radiation-induced damage to adjacent normal tissue, radiation therapy may injure pulmonary tissue either directly via
generation of reactive oxygen species (“ROS”) or indirectly via the action on parenchymal and inflammatory cells through
biological mediators such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF B) and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Since the discovery of
SOD, it has become clear that these enzymes provide an essential line of defense against ROS. SODs and SOD mimics, such as
AEOL 10150, act by catalyzing the degradation of superoxide radicals into oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. SODs are localized
intrafextracellularly, are widely expressed throughout the body, and are important in maintenance of redox status (the balance
between oxidation and reduction). Previous studies have demonstrated that treating irradiated animal models with SOD delivered
by injection of the enzyme through liposome/viral-mediated gene therapy or insertion of human SOD gene can ametiorate

radiation therapy-induced damage. For an illustrative example of the radiation therapy reaction see Figure | below.
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Figure 1 above shows the dual mechanism of action of radiation therapy and the application of AEOL 10150 1o the process.




In vitro studies have demonstrated that AEOL 10150 reduces the formation of lipid peroxides and that it inactivates
biclogically important ROS molecules such as superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and peroxynitrite. AEOL 10150 inactivates these
ROS by one or two electron oxidation or reduction reactions in which the oxidation state of the manganese moiety in AEOL
10150 changes. AEOL 10150 is not consumed in the reaction and it continues 1o inaclivate such ROS molecules as long as it is
present at the target site,

A number of preclinical studies by Zjelko Vujaskovic, MD, PhD; Mitchell Anscher, MD, et al of Duke University. have
demonstrated the efficacy of AEOL 1015¢ in radioprotection of normal tissue. Chronic administration of AEOL 10150 by
continuous, subcutaneous infusion for 10 weeks has demonstrated a significant protective effect from radiation-induced lung
injury in rats. Female Fisher 344 rats were randomly divided into four different dose groups (0, 1, 10 and 30 mg/kg/day of AEOL
10150), receiving cither short {one week) or long-term (ten weeks) drug administration via osmotic pumps. Animals received
single dose radiation therapy of 28 Gray (“Gy"') to the right hemithorax. Breathing rates, body weights, histopathology and
" immunohistochemistry were used to assess lung damage. For the long term administration, functional determinants of hung
damage 20 weeks post-radiation were significantly decreased by AEOL 10150. Lung histology at 20 weeks revealed a significant
decrease in structural damage and fibrosis. Immunchistochemistry demonstrated a significant reduction in macrophage
accumulation, collagen deposition and fibrosis, oxidative stress and hypoxia in animals receiving radiation therapy along with
AEOL 10150. There were no significant differences between the irradiated controls, end the 3 groups receiving shont-term
administration of AEOL 10150 and single dose radiation therapy. Figure 2 below shows a semi-quantitative anatyses of lung
histology at 20 weeks which revealed a significant decrease in structural damage and its severity in animals receiving 10 and 30
mg/kg/day afier radiation in comparison to radiation therapy along with placebo group or radiation iherapy along with 1 mg/kg of
AEOL 10150 {p = 0.01).
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Figure 2 above show that AEOL 10150 treatment decreases the severity of damage and increases the percentage of lung tissue
with no damage from radiation therapy in a study by Zjelko Vujaskovic, MD, PhD; Mitchell Anscher, MD, et al of Duke
University.

Two additional studies examining the effect of subcutaneous injections of AEOL 10150 on radiation-induced lung injury in
rats have been completed. The compound was administered subcutancously by a bid dosing regime (i.c. 2.5 mg/kg or 5.0 mg/kg)
on the first day of radiation and daily for five consccutive weeks. Radiation was fractionated rather than single dose, with 40 Gy
divided in five 8 Gy doses. Preliminary immunohistologic anabyses of the lung tissue from these two studies showed a dose
dependent decrease in the inflammatory response quantified by the number of activated macropheges or areas of cell damage.

These in vivo studies employing subcutaneous administration of AEOL 10150, either by continuous infusion via osmotic
pump or bid injection, demonstrate that AEOL 10150 protects healthy tung tissue from radiation injury delivered either in a single
dose or by fractionated radiation therapy doses. AEOL 10150 mediates its protective effeet(s) by inhibiting a number of events in
the inflammatory cascade induced by radiation damage. Additional in vivo studies have been performed that provide support for
manganoporphyrin antioxidant protection of lung tissue from radiation. Treatment with a related manganoporphyrin compound,
AEOL 10113 significantly improved pulmoenary function, decreased histopatholegic markers of lung fibrosis, decreased collagen
(hydroxyproline) conlent, plasma levels of the profibrogenic cytokine, transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B) and, as
demonstrated by immunohistochemistry of lung tissue, coliagen deposition and TGF-.

An important consideration for the use of an antioxidant in radioprotection of normal adjacent tissue is the potential
interference with the efficacy of tumor radiotherapy. A number of preclinical in vivo studies have addressed this issue and have
demonstrated that AEOL 101 5¢ does not negatively afTect tumor radiothcrapy.

In one study (Vujaskovic, et al. of Duke University), human prostate tumors (PC3) grown in nude mice to substantial size
were fraction irradiated with 5 Gy per day for 3 days for a total of 15 Gy, AEQOL 10150 at 7.5 mg/kg/bid was administered




subcutaneously on the first day of radiation and continued for either of two time courses; when tumor volume reached 5 times the
initial volume or for twenty days. The receding tumor volume curves for irradiation only and for irradiation plus AEOL 10150
were super-imposable. Therefore AEOL 10150 did not interferc with the radiation effect on xenogenic prostate tumor.
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Figure 3. Relative tumor volumes of human prostate tumor implants in nude mice: lmplanis of well-vascularizéd PC3 tumors
were grown to substantial size prior to receiving fractionated radiation (§ Gy daily for three days). AEOL 10150 (7.5 mg/kg/bid)
was administered subcutaneously commencing on the first day of irradiation and continued for 20 days. Other groups of mice
reccived cither no irradiation, irradiation only or AEOL 0§50 without irradiation.

In another study of prostate cancer tumors {Gridlcy, et al of Loma Linda University), mouse prostate cancer cell line RM-9
was injected subcutancously into C57/B16 mice, followed by up to 16 days of AEQOL 10150 delivered intraperitonealy at 6
mg/kp/day. On day seven, a single non-fractionated dose of radiation (10 Gy) was delivered. Therefore, the mice received
compound for seven days prior to radiation, The results of this study demonstrated that AEOL 10150 does not protect the prostate
tumor against radiation and in fact AEOL 10150 showed a wrend 1owards increasing the effectivencess of the radiation reatment.
The primary eflect appears to be in down-regulation of radiation induced HIF-1 expression and VEGF and up-regulation of [L-4.
Thus, AEOL 10150, through its down-regulation of VEGF, may inhibit formation of blood vessels (i.e. angiogenisis) required for
tumor regrowih and protects normal tissues from damage induced by radiation and chemotherapy.
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Figure 4 above measures tumor volume against lime afier implantation of RM-9 tumor cells and shows that AEOL 10150
treatment resulted in inhibition of tumor re-growth in a study performed by Dr, Gridley of Loma Linda University. Daily
intraperitoneal injections of AEOL 10150 were initiated on day 1. At 12 days, approximately one half of each tumor-bearing
group and conirol mice with no tumor were euthanized for in vitro analyses; remaining mice/group were followed for tumor
growth and euthanized individually when maximum allowed tumor volume was atiained. Each point represents the mean +/-
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standard error of the mean. Two-way analysis of the variance for days 8 to 14 revealed that group and time had highly significant
main effects (Ps<0.001) and a group x time interaction was noted (P<0.001),
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Figure 5 above shows the HIF-1 Expression in prostate tumors and the impact of the reatment of AEOL 10150 in a study by
Dr. Gridley of Loma Linda University.

In summary, the data obtained in these preclinical studies suggest that the post iradiation long term delivery of AEOL 10150
may be protective against radiation-induced lung injury, as assessed by histopathology and immunohistochemistry. Oxidative
stress, inflammation and hypoxia, which play important roles in the pathogencsis of radiation mediated fibrosis, were also shown
to be reduced in animals treated with higher doses of AEOL 10150. Studies have also shown that AEOL 10150 does not
adversely affect tumor response to radiation therapy. Thus, treaiment with AEQL 10150 does not significamly protect tumors
from the cell kitling effects of radiation therapy. This combined with other studies that have shown that AEOL 10150
significantly prevents radiation induced normal tissue injury suggests that AEOL 10150 has the potential to achieve normal tissue
protection without protection of tumor tissue. ‘

AEQL 10150 in Treatmen: of the Effects of Mustard Gas Exposure

Sulfur mustards, of which mustard gas is a member, are a class of related cytotoxic, vesicant chemical warfare agents with the
ability to form large blisters on exposed skin. In their pure form most sulfur mustards are colorless, odorless, viscous liquids at
room temperaturc. When used as warfare agents they are usually yellow-brown in color and have an odor resembling mustard
plants, garlic or horseradish. Mustard agents, including sulfur mustard, arc regulated under the 1993 Chemical Weapons
Convention. Three classes of chemicals are monitored under this Convention, with sulfur and nitrogen mustard grouped in the
* highest risk class, "schedule 1", Ilowever, concems aboul its use in a terrorist anack have lead 10 a resurgence in research 1o
develop a protectant against exposure.

The increased risk of a terrorist attack in the United States involving chemical agents has created new challenges for many
departments and agencies across the federal government. Within the Department of Health and Human Services, the NIH is aking
a leadership role in pursuing the development of new and improved medical countermeasures designed to prevent, diagnose, and
wreat the conditions caused by potential and existing chemical agents of terrorism. In addition, many of the same chemicals posing
a threat as terrorist agenis may also be released from transportation and storage facilitics by industrial accidents or during a natural
disaster. The NIH has developed a comprehensive Countcrmeasures Against Chemical Threats (“CounterACT”") Research
Network that includes Research Centers of Excellence, individual research projects, SBIRs, contracts and other programs. The
CounterACT network will conduct basic, transtational, and clinical research aimed ai the discovery and/or identification of better
therapeutic and diagnostic medical countermeasures against chemical threat agents, and their movement through the regulatory
process. The overarching goal of this research program is to enhance our diagnostic and treatment response capabilitics during an
emergency.

Mustard gas is a sirong vesicant (blisier-causing agent). Due to its alkylating properties, it is also strongly mutagenic (causing
damage 10 the DNA of exposcd cells) and carcinogenic (cancer causing). Those exposed usually suffer no immediate symptoms,
Within 4 to 24 hours the exposure develops into deep, itching or bumning blisters whercver the mustard contacted the skin; the
eyes (if exposed) become sore and the eyelids swollen, possibly lcading to conjunctivitis and blindness, At very high
concentrations, if inhaled, it causes bleeding and blistering within the respiratory system, damaging the mucous membrane and
causing pulmonary edema. Blister agent exposure over more than 50% body surface area is usually faial.




Researchers at National Jewish Medical & Research Center and the University of Colorado Health Sciences in Denver,
Colorado have been awarded a five year Center grant from the NIH CounterACT Research Network to support the development
of compounds to protect and treat lung and skin injury associated with mustard gas exposure. One of the lead compounds being
tested in these studies is AEOL 10150.

Research in the area of mustard gas-medialed lung injury has provided experimental evidence that the mechanisms of these
injuries are directly linked to the formation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen specics and that superoxide dismutase and catalase
can ameliorate injury responses. This theory has led to the hypothesis that the administration of catalytic antioxidant therapy can
protect against mustard gas-induced acute fung and dermal injury, AEOL 10150 has already been shown to be well tolerated in
humans and could be rapidly developed towards a NDA pending animal efficacy data.

Recent studies have found that the chemical warfare agent analog, 2-chloroethyl ethyl sulfide (“CEES™)-induced lung injury
could be ameliorated by both exogenous superoxide dismutase and catalase. Both of these natural enzymes are important catalytic
antioxidants and both these reactions are exhibited by metalloporphyrins. CEES-induced lung injury is dependent in part upon
blood neutrophils. Activated neutrophils are an important source of reactive oxygen species that are known to contribute to lung
injury responses. Antioxidants have also been shown to protect against CEES-induced dermal injury. Mustard exposure is often
associated with producing adult respiratory distress syndrome (“*ARDS") that requires supplemental oxygen therzpy to maintain
adequate tissue oxygenation,

Preliminary studies suggest that AEOL 10150 a1 5/mgfkg, sc dose can rescue acute lung injury responses when dosed 1 hour
after the sulfur mustard gas anatog exposure. The nexi sieps are to determine whether this protective effect still occurs with
authentic mustard gas and whether the compound can also provide protection against the chronic tung fibrotic effects of mustard
gas exposures. Thesc data suggest that AEOL 10150 may provide an effective countermeasure to mustard gas attacks that can be
rapidly developed.

The goat of the CounterACT is 1o assist in the development of safe and effective medical countermeasures designed to
prevent, diagnose, and treat the conditions caused by potential and existing chemical agents of terrorism which can be added to the
Nation's Strategic National Stockpile ("SNS”). The SNS is maintained by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(“CDC”). The SNS now coentains CHEMPACKS which are located in secure, environmenially controlled areas throughout the
United States available for rapid distribution in case of emergency. The CDC has established a diagnostic response network for
the detection of nerve agents, mustard, cyanide and toxic metals. The NIH will continue to research, develop and improve medicat
producis that include chemical antidotes, drugs to reduce morbidity and mitigate injury, drugs to reduce secondary o chemical
exposure and diagnostic tests end assessment 100ls 10 be used in mass casualty situations,

AEQL 10150 in ALS

ALS, commonly referred to as “Lou Gehrig's disease,” the mosi common motor neuron disease, results from progressive
degeneration of both upper and lower motor neurons. According to the ALS Asscciation ("ALSA™), he incidence of ALS is two
per 100,000 people. ALS occurs more often in men than women, with typical onset between 40 and 70 years of age. ALS is a
progressive disease and approximately 80% of ALS patients die within five years of diagnosis, with only 10% living more than 10
years. The average life expectancy is two 1o five years after diagnosis, with death from respiratory and/er bulbar muscle failure.
The International Alliance of ALS/MND Associations reports there are over 350,000 patients with ALS/MND worldwide and -
100,000 people die from the disease each year worldwide. In the United States, ALSA reports that there are approximately 30,000
paticnts with ALS with 5,600 new patients diagnosed each year.

Sporadic (i.¢., of unknown origin} ALS is the most common form, accounting for 80-90% of cases. The cause of sporadic
ALS is unclear. Familial ALS comprises the remainder of cases and 10-20% of these patients have a mutated superoxide
dismutase I (*SODI™) gene. More than 90 point mutations have been identified, all of which appear to associate with ALS, and
resull in motor neuron disease in corresponding transgenic mice. SOD mutalions have been observed in both familial and sporadic
ALS patients, although the nature of the dysfunction produced by the SOD1 mutations remains unclear. The clinical and
pathological manifestations of familial ALS and sporadic ALS are indistinguishable suggesting common pathways in both types
of disease.

Joha P. Crow, Ph.D., and his colleagues at the University of Alabama at Birmingham tested AEOL 10150 in an.animal model
of ALS (SOD1 mutant G93A transgenic mice). The experiments conducied by Dr. Crow (now at the University of Arkansas
College of Medicine) were designed to be clinically relevant by beginning treatment only aRer the onset of symptoms in the
animals is observed.

Twenty-four confinmed transgenic mice were alternately assigned 10 either a control group or AEOL 10150-treatment on the
day of symptom onset, which was defined as a noticeable hind-limb weakness. Treaiment began on the day of symptom onset.
The initial dose of AEOL 10150 was 5 mg/kg, with continued treatment at a dose of 2.5 mg/kg once a day until death or near
death.




Ape at Symptom  Survival Interval P-value Log- P-value

onset mean days mean days + rank (v. Wilcoxon (v,
Treatment + SD(range) SD{range) control) control)
Control 104.8 +1.43 12.8+0.79
(100-112) {9-16)
AEOL 10150 106.1 + 1.5 322+2.73
(100-115) (15-46) <0.0001 0.0002

Table 1. Effect of AEOL 10150 on survival of G93A transgenic mice
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Figure 6.

Tabie 1 and Figure 6 above show that AEOL 10150 treatment resulted in a greater than 2.5 times mean survival imerval,
compared to control. AEOL 10150-treated mice were observed to remain mildly disabled until a day or two before death. In
contrast, control mice experienced increased disability daily.

Dr. Crow has repeated the ALS preclinical experiment a total of four times, in each case with similar results, The efficacy of
AEOL 10150 in the G93A mouse model of ALS has also been evaluated by two additional laboratories. One of ihese laboratories
verified an effect of AEOL 10150 in prolonging survival of the G93A mouse, while no beneficial effect of the drug was identified
in the other laboratory.

In November 2003, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration {the “FDA”) granted orphan drug designation for our ALS drug
candidate, Orphan drug designation qualifies a product for possible fiunding to support clinical trials, study design assistance from
the FDA during development and for financial incentives, including seven years ol marketing exclusivity upon FDA approval.

AEOL 10150 Clinical Development Program

AEQL 10150 has been thoroughly 1ested for safety, tolernbility and pharmacokinetics with no serious or clinically significant
adverse effects observed, To date, 37 patients have reccived AEQL 10150 in two clinical trials designed to test the safety and
tolerability of the drug candidate.

In September 2005, we completed a multi-center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, Phase 1 clinical trial, This
escalating single dose study was conducted to evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of AEOL 10150 administered
by twice daily subcutaneous injections in patients with ALS.

In the Phase la study, 4-5 patients diagnosed with ALS were placed in a dosage cohon (3 or 4 receiving AEOL 10150 and |
recciving placebo). Each dose cohort was evaluated at a separate clinical center. In total, seven separate cohorts were cvaluated in
the study, and 25 ALS palients received AEOL 10150, Based upon an analysis of the data, it was concluded thal single doses of
AEOL 10150 ranging from 3 mg 10 75 mg were safe and well tolerated. In addition, no serious or clinically significant adverse
clinical events were reported, nor were there any significant laboratory abnormalities. Based upon extensive cardiovascutar
monitoring (i.c., frequent electrocardiograms and continuous Holter recordings for up to 48 hours following dosing), there were
no compound-related cardiovascular abnormalities.

Following administration of single doses of AEOL 10150 (3, 12, 30, 45, 60 and 75 mg), pharmacokinetic analysis
demonstrated plasma area under the curve {AUC) values ranging from 354 ngehr/mL in the 3 mg group to 12,167 ng+hr/mL in the
75 mg group. Correspondingly, Cmax ranged from 114.8 ng/mL to 1584 ng/mL, and Tmax ranged from 1 to 2 hours in these
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same groups. The mean hall-life of AEOL 10150 ranged from 2.6 (3 mg cohort) to 6.4 hours {75 mg cohort). Linear dose response
and dose proportionality were documented. The Cmax measures peak concentration of a drug in plasma, The Tmax measures the
time to the peak plasma concentration noted (i.e. Cmax). A summary of these results is provided in table form below.

Pharmzcokinetic Parameters for AEOL 10150: Result Summary, Phase la Single Dose Evatuation

AEQL 10150
45 mg
N=4

Pharmacokinetic 3mg I12mg 30mg 45mg é;';ff::;', 60 mg 75 mg

Parameter N=3 N=4 N=23 N=4 opagentsy N=4 N=3

AUC(0-w) 354 1,494 4580 7,116 5922 9,087 12,167
(hreng/mL) 100 £386 1828 41010 1307 #2180 41543
Tmax (0-48) (hr) 1 | | i 2 2 2
10 + 10 10 £l 10 1
Cmax (0-48) 15 267 713 1245 962 1,330 1,584
(ng/mL) 38 +40 1166 247 +333 1226 +378
TI22 (hn) 261 197 5.25 6.31 5.28 593 6.36

+0.60 £1.0% X165 3254 1100 1090 10.47

The most frequently reported adverse events in this Phase | clinical trial were injection site reactions, followed by dizziness
and headache. Adverse events were primarily mild in severity, and approximately one-half of the events were considercd to have a
possible relationship to the study medication. In addition, no clinically meaningful findings were noted in the safety, laboratory,
vital sign, the Unified Parkinson’s Disease Rating Scale (“UPDRS"), functional ALS, or electro cardiogram (“ECG™) data. All
cohorts exhibited dose-related peak plasma drug concentrations and consistent disappearance balf-lives.

In October 2006, we completed a multi-center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, Phase 1b clinical trial. This
multiple dose study was conducted to evaluale the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of AEQL 10150 administered by
subcutaneous injection and infusion pump in patients with ALS. Under the multiple dose protocol, three groups of six ALS
patients (four receiving AEOL 10150 and two receiving placebo) were enrollcd, based upon patients who meet the El Escorial
criteria for Clinically Definite ALS, Clinically Probable ALS, Clinically Probable-Laboratory Supported ALS, or Definite
Familial-Laboratory Supported ALS (i.¢., Clinically Possible ALS with an identified SOD gene mutation).

The first two cohorts of the Phase Ib multiple dose study received a fixed daily dose of AEOL 10150 twice a day by
subcutaneous injection. In the first cohort, each patient received twice daily subcutaneous injections of 40 mg of AEQL 10150 or
placebo, for six consecutive days, followed by a single subcutancous injection on the seventh day, for a total of 13 injections. In
the second cohont, cach patient reccived twice daily subcutaneous injections of 60 mg of AEOL 10150 or placebo, for six
consecutive days, followed by a single subcutaneous injection on the seventh day, for a total of 13 injections.

In contrast, the third cohort received a weight adjusted dosc (i.e. mg per kilogram of body weight per day) delivered
subcutaneously over twenty four hours by continuous infusion pump. In the third cohort, each patient received AEOL 10150 via
continuous infusion pump for six and one half consccutive days for a total of 2.0 mg per patient kilogram per day. Each patient in
all three cohorts complelted the study and follow-up evaluation at 14 days,

The Phase Ib study was conducted at five academic clinical ALS centers. Male and female ALS patients, 18 to 70 years of
age, who were ambulatory (with the use of a walker or cane, if nceded) and capable of orthostatic blood pressure assessments
were enrolled in the study. Clinical signs/symptoms, laboratory values, cardiac assessments, and pharmacokinetics (PK) were
performed.

Based upon an analysis of the data, it was concluded that multiple doses of AEOL 10150 for a period of six and one half
consecutive days in the amount of 40 mg per day, 60 mg per day and 2 mg per kilogram per day were safe and well tolerated. No
serious or clinically significant adverse events were reported or observed. The most frequent adverse events related to study
compound were injection site observations related to compound delivery. There were no significant laboratory abnormolities.
Based upon extensive cardiovascular monitoring (i.¢., frequent elcctrocardiograms and continuous Holter recordings throughout
the six and one half days of dosing), there were no compound-related cardiovascular abnormalities.
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- The pharmacokinetic results of the Phase Ib multiple dose study are presented below.

Pharmacokinetic Parameters for AEOL 10150 for Phase 1 Multiple Dose Evsluation (Cohorts 1 snd 2)

Pharmacokinetic 40mg 60mg 2 mgkp
Paramecter N=4 N=4 N=4

AUC(0-8) 7476 10,240 N/A
(hreng/mL) 1240 12,694

Tmax (0-48) (hr) 1.03 1.06 N/A

$004  10.19
Cmax (0-48) 1,735 2,315 1,653
(ng/mL) $221  #775 1314
T2 (he) 94 78  N/A
134 108

Pharmacokinetic findings from the Phase Ib study to data are as follows:

» Increases in Cmax and AUC(0-8) appears to correlate with increases in dosc, but the correlation is not strong,

»  The mean Cmax for the 40 mg cohort was 1,735 ng/mL; 2,315 ng/mL for the 60 mg cohort and 1,653 ng/ml for the
2 mg/kg cohent. . . .

s There were probable linear correlations betwecn both Cmax and AUC(0-8) and dose based on body weight.

+ The terminal half life (a measurement of the 1ime period for which a compound stays in the body) as determined
from Day 7 data was approximately 8 to 9 hours.

»  Steady-state occurs within three days of mulliple dosing. There was no evidence for a third longer half life that
would be associated with long term accumulation. Thus, compound accurnulation is not expected beyond the third
day with multiple dosing. )

*  From 48 hours to the end of the infusion, the plasma concentrations of AECL 10150 during the infusion showed
little variability, indicating a smoother delivery of the drug than with twice-daily injections,

AEOL 11207 . )

We have selected AEOL 11207 as our second development candidate based upon results from data obtained from our
Pipeline Initiative discussed below. Because of the wide-ranging therapeutic opportunities that the compound evidenced in
diverse pre-clinical models of human diseases, we have not yet ascertained what the most robust therapeutic use of AEOL 11207
might be. However, data collected to date suggest that AEOL 11207 may be useful es a polential once-every-other-day oral
therapeutic treatment option for central nervous system (“CNS") disorders, most likely Parkinson’s disease,

Parkinson’s disease is 2 common neurodegenerative disorder, second in occurrence among these disorders only to
Alzheimer's disease. According to the Parkinson’s Disease Foundation, Parkinson’s affects as many as one million peopie in the
United States, with approximaiely 40,000 new cascs diagnosed in the United States each year. According to the National
Parkinson Foundation, each patient spends an average of 32,500 a year for medications. After factoring in ofTice visits, Social
Security payments, nursing home expenditures and lost income, the total cost to the Uniled States is estimated to be nearly $25
billion annually. '

Parkinson’s specifically involves the progressive destruction of the nerves that secrete dopamine and control the basal
ganglia, an area of the brain involved in the regulation of movement. Dopamine tumover has been shown to clevate the levels of
ROS in the brain. In addition, a street-drug contaminant has appeared thal can cause parkinsonism in drug abusers. The compound
N-methyl-d-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6tetrahydropyridine (*“MPTP"} has been identifted in underground laboratory preparations of a potent
analog of meperidine (Demerol}. MPTP-containing powder, sometimes sold as a new “synthetic heroin,” can be dissolved in
water and administered intravenously or taken by the intranasal route. MPTP has been documented to produce ireversible chronic
Parkinson symptoms in drug abusers. Agents such as MPTP overproduce ROS in the basa! ganglia. Therefore, ROS mediated
neurcnal dysfunction may play a key role in the development of Parkinson’s disease. Symptoms of this disease include Iremors,
rigidity and bradykinesia (j.e., slowness of movement). In the more advanced stages, it can cause fluctuations in motor function,
sleep problems and various neuro-psychiatric disorders. A biclogical hallmark of Parkinson’s disease is a reduction in brain
dopamine levels. Preventing or slowing the destruction of brain ceils that lead to the depletion of dopamine levels in the brain is
an important therapeutic approach for the treatment of this disease.




Data developed by our scientists and Dr. Manisha Patel at Unijversity of Colorado Health Sciences Center and Department of
Medicine, indicate that when administered orally, AEOL 11207 is greater than 80% bioavailable, meaning that it is readily
absorbed and reaches both the circulatory system and the brain in sufficient amounts 10 demonstrate biological activity, Data
developed with AEOL 11207 in a widely used animal model of Parkinson’s disease (the “MPTP mode!”) showed that when
administered orally, AEOL 11207 crosses the blood brain barrier and protected dopamine neurons in a dose-dependent manner.
Further data suggest that the compound has a half life (a2 measurement of the time period for which a compound stays in the body)
of about 3 days in both the circulatory system and the brain, and that prier fo stopping administration of the compound, the levels
of AEOL 11207 in both the circulatory system and brain reach a steady state (a valuable measurement of when the levels of the
drug in the body remain substantially constant, neither increasing nor decreasing) after 2 days of dosing. Data have also been
developed that indicate that when dosing of AEOL 11207 is stopped, the compound is excreted from the body.

For this and other reasons, we believe that the therapeutic rationale for developing AEOL 11207 as a neuroprotectant, may
substantially change the course of therapeutic trealment options for Parkinson’s disease if AEQL 11207 were 10 achieve
regulatory approval for commercialization. However, we are unable to determine at this time that such regulatory approval for
AEOL 11207 can be or will be secured and we will not be able to further develop AEOL 11207 until funding for this purpose is
obtained.

AEQL 11207 is patent-protected and has the same chemical core structure as AEQL 10150. Because of this common
structural feature, it is anticipated that AEQL 11207 will evidence substantially the same safety profile in clinical evaluations as
observed with AEOL 10150, making clinical trial design and testing of AEOL 11207 more robust and facile. Furthermore, all of
the Aeolus compounds evidence the ability to scavenge and decrease ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), all of which are
implicated in a variety of CNS diseases.

Aeolus Pipeline

In June 2005, we launched the “Aeolus Pipeline Initiative” whereby we are focused on identifying additional compounds for
polential entrance into clinical evaluation. The Aeolus Pipeline Initiative is an internal devetopment initiative focused on
advancing several of the most promising catalytic antioxidant compounds from our proprictary library of compounds. The inilial
therapeatic focus areas for the Aeolus Pipeline Initiative are: Parkinson’s disease; Cystic Fibrosis; Chronic Obstructive Lung
Discase; colitis, brodefense/radioprotection; tumor suppression/bone marrow transplantation; and stroke. These therapeutic focus
areas were selected based upon preliminary data developed using our catalytic antioxidant compounds,

In addition to AEOL 11207, two Aeolus compounds from its Pipeline Initiative, AEOL 11203 and AEOL 11216, have shown
very promising resuits in pre-clinical models and are currently being evaluated and considered for non-CNS indications. These
compounds are also orally bioavailable.

AEOL 11203 and AEQOL 11216, as with all of the Aeolus compounds, are patent-protected and have the same chemical core
structure as AEOL 10150. Because of this common structural feature, it is anticipated that the Aeolus compounds that are selected
for clinical evaluation from the Pipeline Initiative will evidence substantially the same safety profile in clinical evaluations as
observed with AEOL. 10150, making clinical trial design and testing of the Aeolus compounds more robust and facile.
Furthermore, all of the Acolus compounds evidence the ability to scavenge and decrease ROS and RNS, all of which are
implicated in a variety of central nervous system discases.

Background on Antlexidants
Oxygen Stress and Disease

Oxygen plays a pivotal role in supporting tife by enabling energy stored in food 1o be converted 10 energy that living
organisms can use. The ability of oxygen to participate in key metabolic processes derives from its highly reactive nature, This
reactivity is necessary for life, but also generates different forms of oxygen that can react harmfully with living organisms. In the
body, a small proportion of the oxygen we consume is converted 10 superoxide, a [ree radical species that gives rise to hydrogen
peroxide, hydroxy! radical, peroxynitrite and various other oxidants.

Oxygen-denived free radicals can damage DNA, proteins and lipids resulting in inflammation and both acute and delayed cell
death. The body protects itself from the harmful effects of free radicals and other oxidants through multiple antioxidant enzyme
systems such as superoxide dismutase (*SOD'™), These natural antioxidants convert the reactive molecules into compounds
suitable for normal metabelism. When too many free radicals are produced for the body’s normal defenses to convert, “oxidative
stress™ occurs with a cumulative result of reduced cellular function and, ultimately, discase.

Data also suggests that oxygen-derived free radicals are an important factor in the pathogenesis of a large variety of diseases,
including neurological disorders such as ALS, Parkinson’s discase, Alzheimer's disease and stroke, and in non-neurclogical
disorders such as cancer radiation therapy damage, emphysema, asthma and diabetes.




Antioxidants as Therapeutics

Because of the role that oxygen-derived free radicals play in disease, scientists are actively exploring the possible role of
antioxidants as & treatment for related diseases. Preclinical and clinical studies involving treatment with SOD, the body’s natural
antioxidant enzyme, or more recently, studies involving over-expression of SOD in transgenic animals, have shown promise of
therapeutic benefit in a broad range of disease therapies. Increased SOD function improves outcome in animal models of
conditions including stroke, ischemia-reperfusion injury (a temporary cutoff of blood supply to tissue) to various organs, harmful
effects of radiation and chemotherapy for the treatment of cancer, and in neurological and pulmonary diseases, Clinical studies
with bovine SOD, under the brand Orgolein, or recombinant human 50D in several conditions including arthritis and protection
from limiting side effects of cancer radiation or chemotherapy treatment, have also shown promise of benefit. The major
limitations of enzymatic SOD as a therapeutic are those found with many proteins, most importantly limited cell penetration and
allergic reactions. Allergic reactions have led to the withdrawal of Orgotein from almost every worldwide market.

Catalytic Antioxidants vs. Antioxidant Scavengers

From a functional perspective, antioxidant therapeutics can be divided into two broad categories, scavengers and catalysts,
Antioxidant scavengers are compounds where one antioxidant molecule combines with one reaclive oxygen molecule and both are
consumed in the reaction. There is a one-to-one ratio of the antioxidant and the reactive molecule. With catalytic antioxidants, in
contrast, the antioxidant molecule can repeatedly inactivate reactive oxygen molecules, which could result in multiple reactive
oxygen molecules combining with each antioxidant molecule.

Vitamin derivatives that are antioxidants are scavengers. The SOD enzymes produced by the body are catalytic antioxidants.
Caualytic antioxidants are typically much more potent than antioxidant scavengers, in some instances by & multipie of up to
10,000.

Use of antioxidant scavengers, such as thiols or vitamin derivatives, has shown promise of benefit in preclinical and clinical
studies. Ethyol, a thiol-containing antioxidant, is approved for reducing radiation and chemotherapy toxicity during cancer
treatment, and clinical studies have suggested benefit of other antioxidants in kidney and neurodegenerative diseascs. However,
large sustained doses of the compounds are required as each antioxidant scavenger molecule is consumed by its reaction with the
free radical. Toxicities and the inefficiency of scavengers have limited the utility of antioxidant scavengers to very specific
circumstances,

Collaborative and Licensing Arrangements
Duke Licenses

Through our wholly owned subsidiary, Aeolus Sciences, Inc., we have abtained exclusive worldwide rights from Duke
University (“Duke”} to products using antioxidant technology and compounds developed by Dr. lrwin Fridovich and other
scientists at Duke. Further discoveries in the field of antioxidant rescarch from these scientists'’ lzboratories at Duke also are
covered by the licenses from Duke. We must pay royalties to Duke on net product sales during the term of the Duke licenses, and

‘mus! make payments upon the occurrence of development milestones. In addition, we are obligated under the Duke licenses to
pay patent filing, pmsecuuon maintenance and defense costs. The Duke licenses are terminable by Duke in the event of breach by
us and otherwise expire when the last licensed patent expires.

National Jewish Medical and Research Center License

1n November 2000, we obtained an exclusive worldwide license from the National Jewish Medical and Research Center ( the
“NJC”) to develop, make, use and sell products using proprietary information and technology developed under a previous
Sponsored Research Agreement within the field of antioxidant compounds and related discoveries. We must make milestone
payments to the NJC upon the occurrence of development milestones and pay royaltics on net sales. We are also obligated to pay
patent filing, prosecution, maintenance and defense costs. The NJC agreement is terminable by the NJC in the event of breach and
otherwise expires when the last licensed patent expires.

Research and Development Expenditures

Expenditures for research and development activities related 10 our continuing operations were $1,381,000, $3,480,000 and
$4,515,000 during the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively. Research and development expenses for
fiscal 2007 related 10 the completion of our Phase | multiple dose clinical trial for the treaiment of ALS and preciinical testing
associaled with other drug candidates in our pipeline.

Manufacturing

We currently do not have the capability 1o manufacture any of our product candidates on a commercial scale. Assuming the
successful development of one or more of our catalytic antioxidant compounds, we plan to contract with third parties 1o
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manufacture them.
Commercialization

Assuming successful development and FDA approval ol one or more of our compounds, to successfully commercialize our
catalytic antioxidant programs, we must seek corporale partners with expertise in commercialization or develop this expertise
internally. However, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our catalytic antioxidant technology, either internally or
through collaboration with others.

Marketing

Our potential catalytic antioxidant products are being developed for large therapeutic markets. We believe these markels are
best approached by partnering with established biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies that have broad sales and marketing
capabilities. We are pursuing collaborations of this type as part of our search for development partners. However, we may not be
able to enter into any marketing arrangements for any of our preducss on satisfactory terms or at all.

Competition
General

Competition in the pharmaceutical industry is intense and we expect it to increase. Technological developments in our field of
research and development occur at a rapid rate and we expect competition 1o intensify as advances in this field are made. We will
be required to continue 1o devote substantial resources and efforts to research and development activities. Our most significant
competitors, among others, are fully integrated pharmaceutical companies and more established biotechnology companies, which
have substantially greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, and human resources than we do. These companies may succeed
in developing and obtaining regulatory approval for competitive products more rapidly than we can for our product candidates. In
addition, competitors may develop technologies and products that are, or are perceived as being, cheaper, safer or more effective
than those being developed by us or that would render cur technotogy obsolete.

We expect that important competitive factors in our potential product markets will be the relative speed with which we and
other companies can develop products, complete the clinical testing and approval processes, and supply commercial quantities of
a competitive product to the market. With respect to clinical 1esting, competition might result in a scarcity of clinical investigators
and patients available to test our potential products, which could delay development. .

As described below, we are aware of products in research or development by our competilors that address the diseases and
therapies being targeted by us. In addition to the competitors and products discussed below, there may be other competitors of
whom we are unaware with products which might be more effective or hove fewer side effects than our products and those of our
known competitors. The following discussion is a summary of information known 1o us and is not meant to be an exhaustive list
of our competitors or their products,

Antioxidanis

Several companies have explored the therapeutic potential of antioxidant compounds in numerous indications. Historically,
most of these companies have focused on engineered versions of naturally occurring antioxidant enzymes, but with limited
success, perhaps because the large size of these molecules makes delivery into the cells difficult. Antioxidant drug research
continues at a rapid pace despite previous clinical setbacks. Activbiotics, Inc. is currently developing a proprietary synthetic small
molecule, M40403 for the management of post-operative ileus (*POI™). M40403 has been evaluated in approximately 700
subjects or patienis in clinical tials in indications other than POI, with no serious drug related adverse events reported including a
positive Phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of pain when vsed in combination with morphine and a confirmatory Phase I
study in pain in conjunction with opioids. In addition, Aclivbiolics has completed a Phase 1 study of another antioxidant
compound, M40419 and has indicated that their SOD mimetic library consists of over 250 small molecules that mimic namrally
occurring SOD enzymes. Proteome Sysiems Lid. is also developing an antioxidant compound, EUK-189, for conditions
associated with skin damage caused by free radicals.

Reduction of Radiation Induced-Injury in Cancer Therapy

There are currently three drugs approved for the treatment of the side effects of radiation therapy. Amifostine (Ethyol®) is
approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA") as a radioprotector. Amifostine (Ethyol®) is marketed by
MedImmune, Inc. for use in reduction of chemotherapy-induced kidney toxicity associated with repeated administration of
cisplatin in patients with advanced ovarian cancer and radiation-induced xerostomia (damage to the salivary gland) in patients
undergoing post-operative radiation treatment for head and neck cancer. MedImmune is studying amifostine in.other indications
of radiation therapy. Kepivance™ (palifermin) is marketed by Amgen, Inc. for use in the treatment of severe oral mucositis
(mouth sores) in patients with hematologic (blood) cancers who are undergoing high-dose chemotherapy followed by bone
transplant. Amgen is also studying Kepivance as an antimucositis agent in patients with head and neck cancer, non small cell Jung
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cancer and colon cancer. Salagen Tablets (pilocarpine hydrochloride) (“Salagen™} is marketed by MGI Pharma in the United
States as a treatment for the symptoms of xerostomia induced by radiation therapy in head and neck cancer patients,

In addition, there are many drugs under development to treat the side effects of radiation therapy. Saforis™(glutamine),
developed by MGI Pharma, recently received an approvable letter from the FDA for Saforis for the treatment and prevention of
oral mucositis but is required to run an additional Phase [ trial before final approval. Endo Pharmaceuticals is currently
conducting a Phase 11 clinical trial for EN3285 (formerly known as RK-0202), a topical oral rinse, for the prevention of oral
mucosilis in patients with head and neck cancer undergoing combination treatment of radiation and chemotherapy. Protcome
Systems, Lid. has initiated an investigation of a small molecule antioxidant 1o reduce radiation-induced skin damage in breast
cancer.

ALS

Rilutek® (riluzole), marketed by Sanofi-Aventis SA, is the only commercially approved treatment for ALS in the United
States and the European Union, Administration of Rilutek prelongs survival of ALS patients by an average of 60-90 days, but has
little or no effect on the progression of muscle weakness, or quality of life. Rilutek was approved in the United States in 1995, and
in 2001 in the European Union.

However, there are more than twenty drug candidates reported 10 be in clinical development for the ireatment of ALS. Based
on the information available to us some of the most advanced drug candidates include:

e The Avicena Group is developing two drug candidates for the treatment of ALS. ALS-02, granted orphan drug
designation by the FDA, recently completed its first Phase U111 trial. Data from this trial, when combined with a second
trial of ALS-02, demonstrated a positive trend toward decreased morality. The Avicena Group is currently analyzing the
study results and plans to continue development of ALS-02,

¢ CylRx Corporation has completed a Phase 11 clinical trial with its small molecule produci candidate, arimoclomol, for the
treatment of ALS and expects to launch a second Phase IT clinical trail by the end of 2007,

s Ceregenc, Inc. is currently testing in pre-clinical models its neurotrophic compound, CERE-130 (IGF-1), for the
treatment of ALS.

o  Celgene and its partners are currently enrolling patients for a Phase 11 clinical trial for its immunomodulatory and
antiangiogenic compound, thalidomide, for the treatment of ALS.

= Columbia University has successfully completed two Phase [] clinical trials using minocyctine for the treatment of ALS
and is conducting a Phase [lI clinical trial.

Eisai Limited is enrolling patients for a Phase 11/11} clinical trail for E0302 for the treatment of ALS.
Mitsubishi Tenabe Pharma Corporution is cutrently enrolling patients for three Phase 111 clinical rials for Redicut
(Edaravone or MCI-186) for the treatment of ALS.

*  The National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke is currently conducting a Phase I1I clinical trial with insulin-
like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) 10 determine if IGF-I slows the progressive weakness in ALS patients.

o Ono Pharmaceuticals Company, Lid. has initiated a Phase 11 clinical trial in Europe using its astrocyte modulator,
Cereact® Capsules (ONO-2506P0) for the treatment of ALS.

Peking University is currently enrolling patients for a Phase Il clinical trial for G-CSF for the treatment of ALS.
Teva Pharmaceuticals is currently conducing two Phase 11 clinical trails for the treatment of ALS; one trial for its
glatiramer acetate compound and one {or Talampanel, an orally active antagonist of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-
methyl-4-isoxazolepropionatc neuronal excitatory glutamate receptor.

In addition, ALS belongs to a family of diseases called neurodegencrative diseases, which includes Alzheimer’s, Parkinson’s
and Huntington's disease. Due to similarities between these diseases, a new treatment for one ailment potentially could be vseful
for treating others, There are many companies that are producing znd developing drugs used to treat neurodegenerative diseases
other than ALS. :

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We currently license rights to our potential products from third parties. We generally seek patent protection in the United
States and other jurisdictions for the potential products and proprietary technology licensed from these third parties. The process
for preparing and prosecuting patents is lengthy, uncertain and costly. Patents may not tssue on any of the pending patent
applications owned by us or licensed by us from third parties. Even if patents issue, the claims allowed might not be sufficiently
broad 1o protect our technology or provide us protection against competitive products or otherwise be commercially valuable.
Patents issued to or licensed by us could be challenged, invalidated, infringed, circumvented or held unenforceable. Even if we
successfully defend our patents for our products, the costs of defense can be significant.

As of November 30, 2007, our catalylic antioxidant small molecule tcchnolbgy base is described in cleven issued United
States patents and six United States pending patent applications. These patents and patent applications belong in whole or in pant
to Duke or the NJC and are licensed to us. These patents and patent applications cover soluble manganic porphyrins as antioxidant
molecules as well as targeted compounds obtained by coupling such antioxidant compounds to molecules that bind to specific
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extracellular elements. The pending U.S. patent applications and issued U.S. patents include composition of matter claims and
method claims for several series of compounds. Corresponding intemational patent applications have been filed 61 of which have
issued as of November 30, 2007.

In addition to patent protection, we rely upon trade secrets, proprietary know-how and technological advances that we seek to
protect in part through confidentiality agreements with our collaborative partners, employees and consultants, Our employees and
consultants are required to enter into agreements providing for confidentiality and the assignment of rights to inventions made by
thern while in our service. We also enter into non-disclosure agreements to protect our confidential information fumnished to third
parties for rescarch and other purposes.

Government Regulation

Our research and development activities and the manufacturing and marketing of our future products are subject to regulation
by numerous governmental agencies in the United Stales and in other countries. The FDA and comparable sgencies in other
countries impose mandatory procedures and standards for the conduct of clinical trials and the production and marketing of
producis for diagnostic and human therapeuiic use. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our
products under development, we must demonstrate through preclinical studies and clinical trials that the product is safe and
efficacious for use in each target indication. The resuhs from preclinical studies and early clinical trials might not be predictive of
results that will be obtained in large-scale testing. Our clinical trials might not successfully demonstrate the safety and efficacy of
any products or result in marketable products.

The United States system of drug approvals is considered to be the most rigorous in the world. It takes an average of 10 - 15
years for a drug candidate to be approved in the United States according to the Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development.
Only five in 5,000 drug candidates that enter preclinical testing make it 10 human testing and only one of those five is approved
for commercialization. On average it costs a company $897 million to get one new drug candidate from the laboratory to United
States patients according to 8 May 2003 report by Tufis Center for the Study of Drug Development.

The steps required by the FDA before new drug products may be marketed in the United States include:

completion of preclinical studies;

s  the submission to the FDA of a request for authorization to conduct clinical trials on an investigational new drug (an
“IND”), which must become efTective before clinical trials may commence;

+ adequate and well-controlled Phase | clinical trials which typically involves normal, healthy volunteers. The test study a
drug candidate’s safety profile, including the safe dosage range: The studies also determine how a drug is absorbed,
distributed, metabolized and excreted as well as the duration of its action.

» adequate and well-controlled Phase Il clinical trials which typically involve treating patients with the targeted disease
with the drug candidate to assess a drug’s effectiveness.

» adequate and well-controlled Phase 11 clinical trials involving a larger population of patients with the targeted disease
are ireated with the drug candidate 1o confirm efTicacy of the drug candidaie in the treatment of the targeted indication
and to identify adverse events,

¢ submission to the FDA of an NDA; and

« review and approval of the NDA by the FDA before the product may be shipped or sold commercially.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each product, cach product manufacturing establishment must be registered with
the FDA and undergo an inspection prior 1o the approval of an NDA. Each manufacturing facility, and its quality control and
manufactuning procedures must also conform and adhere at all times to the FDA's current good manufacturing practices
("cGMP”) regulations. In addition to preapproval inspections, the FDA and other government agencics regularly inspect
manufacturing facilities for compliance with these requirements. Manufacturers must expend substantial 1ime, money and effort in
the area of production and quality control to ensure full technical compliance with these standards.

Preclinical testing includes Jaboratory evaluation and characterization of the safety and efficacy of a drug and its formulation.
Preclinical testing results are submitied to the FDA as a pan of an IND which must become effective prior to commencement of
clinical trials. Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases following submission of an IND, Phase I represents
the initial administration of the drug to a small group of humans, either patients or healthy volunteers, typically to test for safety
(adverse effects), dosage 10lerance, absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and clinical pharmacology, and, if possible, to
gain erly evidence of effectiveness. Phase 1! involves studies in a small sample of the actual intended patient population to assess
the efficacy of the drug for a specific indication, to determine dose tolerance and the optimal dose range and to gather additional .
information relating to safety and potential adverse effects. Once an investigational drug is found 1o have some efficacy and an
scceptable safety profile in the targeted patient population, Phase 11! studies are initiated to further establish climical safety and
efficacy of the therapy in a broader sample of the general patient population, in order to determine the overall risk-benefit ratio of
the drug and to provide an adequate basis for any physician labeling. During all clinical stedies, we must adhere to good clinical
practice ("GCP") standards, The resulis of the research and product development, manufacturing, preclinical studies, clinical
studies and related information are submiited in an NDA to the FDA,
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The process of completing clinical testing and obtaining FDA approval for a new drug is likely to take a number of years and
require the expenditure of substantial resources. I{ an application is submitied, there can be no assurance that the FDA will review
and approve the NDA. Even after initial FDA approval has been obtained, further studies, including post-market studies, might be
required to provide additional data on safety and will be required to gain approval for the use of a product as a treatment for
clinical indications other than those for which the product was initially tested and approved. Also, the FDA will require post-
market reporting and might require surveillance programs 1o.monitor the side effects of the drug. Results of posi-marketing
programs might limit or expand the further marketing of the products. Further, if there are any modifications ro the drug, including
changes in indication, manufacturing process, labeling or a change in manufacturing facility, an NDA supplement might be
required to be submiited to the FDA.

The rate of completicn of any clinical trials will be dependent upon, among other {actors, the rate of patient enrollment.
Patient enrollment is a function of many factors, including the size of the patient population, the nature of the trial, the availability
of aliemative therapies and drugs, the proximity of patients to clinical sites and the eligibility criteria for the study. Delays in
planned patient enrollment might result in increased costs and delays, which could have a matcrial adverse effect on us,

Failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements may result in a number of consequences that could materially and
adversely affect us. Failure to adhere to approved trial standards and GCPs in conducting clinical trials could cause the FDA to
place a clinical hold on one or more studies which would delay research and data collection necessary for product approval.
Noncompliance with GCPs could zlso have a negative impact on the FDA's evaluation of an NDA. Failure to adhere to GMPs and
other applicable requirements could result in FDA enforcement action and in civil and criminal sanctions, including but not
limited to fines, seizure of product, refusal of the FDA 10 approve preduct approval applications, withdrawal of approved
applications, and prosecution.

Whether or not FDA approval has been obtained, approval of a product by regulatory authorities in foreign countries must be
obtained prior 10 the commencement of marketing of the product in those countries. The requirements govemning the conduct of
clinical trials and product approvals vary widely from country Lo country, and the time required for approval might be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval. Although there are some procedures for unified fitings for some European countries,
in general, each country at this time has its own procedures and requirements. There can be no assurance that any foreign
approvals would be obtained.

In addition to the regulatory framework for product approvals, we and our collaborative partners must comply with laws and
regulations regarding occupational safety, laboratory practices, the use, handling and disposition of radieactive materials,
environmenial protection and hazardous substance control, and other local, state, federal and foreign regulation. The impact of
such regulation upon us cannot be predicted and could be material-and adverse.

CPEC, LLC

We were previously developing bucindolol for the treatment of heart failure, but development was discontinued in 1999,
Commercial rights 1o bucindolol are owned by CPEC, LLC, a limited liability company, of which we own 35% and Indevus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. owns 65%.

In July 1999, the Department of Veterans Aflairs and the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, a division of the NIH,
terminated the Phase 11T heart failure siudy of bucindolo! earlier than scheduted, based on an interim analysis that revealed a
reduction in mortality in subpopulations that had been reported in other trials and who constituted the majority of patients in the
trial, but no efficacy in some other subpopulations that had not been previously investigated in beta-blocker heart failure trials. As
a result, we discontinued development of bucindolel for heart failure in 1999.

ARCA Discovery, Inc. of Aurora, Colorade, and its academic collaborators, have reexamined this clinical trial data and have
identified a genetic marker that highly correlates with patients who did not respond to bucindolol. ARCA believes that
bucindolol's unique pharmacology is suitable for therapy of most heart failure patients who do not exhibit this genetic marker, in
other pharmacogenetically-identified subpopulations that are ideally suited for bucindolol’s novel therapeutic action, and for the
treatment of ischemia in the setting of left ventricular dysfunction. In October 2003, CPEC outlicensed bucindolol to ARCA.
Terms of the license call for future royalty and milestone payments to CPEC upon the development and commercialization of
bucindolol. .

During fiscal 2006, CPEC agreed to modify the license agreement between CPEC and ARCA Discovery, Inc. and received
400,000 shares of ARCA Discovery, Inc. common stock as consideration for the amendment. In addition, during fiscal 2006,
CPEC received a milesione payment of $1,000,000 as a result of ARCA Discovery, Inc. compleling a financing.

ARCA has indicated that they amticipate filing an application with the FDA for approval of bucindolol in 2007.
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Employees

Al November 30, 2007, we had one employce, John L. McManus, our President and Chief Exccutive Gfficer. Mr. McManus
is not represented by a labor union. Each of our other executive ofTicers and service providers are consultants.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers and their ages as of November 30, 2007 were as follows:

Name Age Position(s)
- John L. McManus 43 President and Chief Executive Officer
Brian J. Day, Ph.D. 47 Chief Scientific Officer
Michael P, McManus 38 Chief Financtal Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

John L. McManus. Mr. McManus began as a consultant to the Company in June 2005 as President. He became employed as
our President and Chief Operating Officer in July 2006 and was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer in March 2007.
Mr. McManus, who received his degree in business administration from the University of Southern California in 1986, is the
founder and president of McManus Financial Consultants, Inc. (“MFC"), which provides strategic, financial and investor relations
advice to senior managements and boards of directors of public companies, including advice on mergers and acquisitions. These
companies have a combined value of over $25 billion. He has served as president of MFC since 1997. In addition, Mr. McManus
previously served as Vice President, Finance and Strategic Planning 1o Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. where he had primary
responsibility for restructuring Spectrum's operations and finances, including the design of strategic and financial plans to
enhance Spectrum’s corporate focus, and leading the successful implementation of these plans. The implementation of these plans
led 10 an increase in Spectrum's market value from $1 million to more than $125 million at the time of Mr. McManus® departure,

Brian J. Day, Ph.D. Dr. Day is a part-lime consultant and was appointed Chief Sciemtific Officer of Aeolus in September

2004, Dr. Day has extensive training in both pharmacology and toxicology with over 14 years experience. Since 1994 he has

" helped guide the design and synthesis of metalloporphyrins and has discovered a number of their novel activities in biological
sysiems. Dr. Day has suthored over 70 origina) scientific publications and served as a consultant to biotechnology companies for
over L0 years. He is an active member of @ number of scientific societies including the American Chemical Society, Society for
Frec Radicals in Biology and Medicine, and Society of Toxicology, where he served on the Board of Publications. Dr. Day has
been at the NJC since 1997 and currently is a Professor in the Environmental and Occupational Health Sciences Division. He is
one of the sciemific co-founders of Aeolus and an inventor on a majority of the catalytic antioxidant program's patents,

Michael P. McManus. Mr. McManus began as a consulant to the Company in June 2005, serving as Chiefl Accounting
OfTicer, Treasurer and Secretary. In July 2006, Mr. McManus was appointed Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary.
Mr. McManus has served as the Executive Vice President of MFC since 1995. MFC is a leading provider of financial,
management and investor relations consulting and support services to publicly traded companies. From 2001 to 2003, Mr.
McManus also served as Controller and Principal Accounting Officer of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc., where he was
responsible for restructuring Spectrum’s accounting and administration functions. Prior Lo joining MFC, from 1991 to 1995, he
worked a1 Price Waterhouse LLP (now PricewatcrhouseCoopers LLP) as an audit manager for healthcare and financial services
companies. Mr. McManus is a retired Certified Public Accountant and holds a B.S. in Accounting from the University of Southern
Califomia.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the following information about risks described below, rogether with the other information
contained in this annual report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC, before yvou decide to buy or maintain an
investment in our common stock. We believe the risks described below are the risks that are maierial 1o us as of the date of this
annual report. If any of the following risks actually oocur, our business, financial condition, resuits of operations and future
growth prospecis.would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumsiances, the market price of our common siock
could decline, and you may lose all or part of the money you paid to buy our capital stock.

Risks Related to Qur Business
We have operated ai a loss and will likely continue to operate at a loss for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred significant losses over the past five years, including net losses of $3.0 million, $5.8 million and $6.9
million for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and we had an accumulated deficit of approximately
£155.9 million as of September 30, 2007. Our operating losses have been due primarily to our expenditures for research and

development on our product candidates and for general and administrative expenses and our lack of significant revenues. We are
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likely to continue 10 incur operating losses until such time, if ever, that we generale significant recurring revenucs. We anticipate
it will take a minimum of five years (and possibly longer) for us to generate recurring revenues, since we expect that it will take at
least that long before the development of any of our licensed or other current potential products is completed, marketing approvals
are obtained from the FDA and commercial sales of any of these products can begin.

We need substantial additional funding to continue our operations and may be unable to raise capital when needed, or at all,
which would force us to delay, curtail or eliminate our clinical programs and our product development programs.

We need 10 raise substantial additional capital 1o fund our operations and clinical trials and continue our research and
development. In addition, we may need to raise substantial additional capital to enforce our proprietary rights, defend, in litigation
or otherwise, any claims that we infringe third party patents or other intellectual property rights; and commercialize any of our
products thal may be appraved by the FDA or any international regulatory authority.

As of September 30, 2007, we had cash of approximately $l,7f7,000. We expect (o use these funds, including any additional
funds received pursuant 1o the excrcise of outstanding warrants to purchase our capital stock, to continue the development of our
product candidates, 10 expand the development of our drug pipeline and for working capital.

We believe we have adequate financial resources to fund our current operations through the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008.
However, in order 1o fund on-going cash requirements beyond that point, or (o further accelerate or expand our programs, we will
need to raise additional funds. We are considering sirategic and financial options available to us, including public or private equity
offerings, debt financings and collaboration arrangements. I we raise additional funds by issuing securities, our stockholders will
experience dilution of their ownership interest. Debt financings, if available, may involve restrictive covenants and require
significant interest payments. 1f we do not receive additional financing to fund our operations beyond the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008, we would have to discontinue some or all of our activities, merge with or sell some or all of our nssets to another company,
or cease aperalions entirely, and our stotkholders might ltose all or part of their invesiments.

In addition, il our catalytic antioxidant program shows scientific progress, we will need significant additional funds to move
therapies through the preclinical stages of development and clinical trials. If we are unable to raise the amount of capital necessary
1o complete development and reach commercialization of any of our catalytic antioxidant products, we will need to delay or cease
development of one or more of these producis or partner with another company for the development and commereialization of
these products. ’

Our independent registered public accounting firm has expressed substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a zoing
concern.

In its audit opinion issued in connection with our consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 and our
consolidated statements of operations, stockholder’s equity and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005, our independent registered public accounting firm has expressed substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going
concemn given our recurring net losses, negative cash flows from operations and working capital deficiency. The accompanying
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction
of liabilities and commitments in the normat course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating
1o the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or amounts of liabilities that might be necessary should we be
unable to continue in existence,

We have a limited operating history, have a history of operating losses, expect to continue to incur substantial losses and may
never become profitable.

We have a limited operating history and no products approved for commercialization in the United States or abroad. Our
product candidates are still being developed, and all but our AEOL 10150 candidate are still in carly stages of development. Qur
product candidates will require significant additionat development, clinical trials, regulalory clearances or approvals by the FDA
and additional investment before they can be commercialized in the United States.

As of September 30, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of $155.9 million frem our research, development and other
activitics. We have not generated material revenues from product sales and do not expect 1o generate product revenues sufficient
10 support us for al least several more years.

Our research and developrient (“R&D") activities are at an early stage and therefore might never result in viable products,

Our catalytic antioxidani program is in the early stages of development, involves unproven technology, requires significant
further R&D and regulatory approvals and is subject to the risks of failure inhcrent in the development of producis or therapeutic
procedures based on innovative technologies. These risks include the possibilities thal:

 any or all of these proposed products or procedures are found to be unsafe or ineffective or otherwise fail to
receive necessary regulatory approvals;
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e the proposed products or procedures are not economical to market or do not achieve broad market acceptance;
» third parties hold proprietary rights that preclude us from marketing the proposed products or procedures; and
» third parties market n superior or equivalent product.

Further, the timeframe for commercialization of any product is long and uncertain because of the extended testing and
regulatory review process required before marketing approva) can be obtained. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
successfully develop or market any of our proposed products or procedures.

If our products are not successfully developed and eventually approved by the FDA, we may be forced te reduce or terminate
our operations. .

All of our products are at various stages of development and must be approved by the FDA or similar foreign govemmental -
agencies before they can be marketed. The process for obtaining FDA approval is both time-consuming and costly, with no
certainty of a successful outcome. This process typically requires extensive preclinical and clinical testing, which may take longer
or cost more than we anticipatc, and may prove unsuccessful due to numerous factors. Product candidates that may appear to be
promising at early stages of development may not successfully reach the market for a number of reasons. The results of preclinical
and initial clinical testing of these products may not necessarily indicate the results that will be obtained from later or more

- extensive testing. Companics in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in advanced

clinical trials, even afier oblaining promising results in earlier trials.
Numerous factors could affect the timing, cost or outcome of our drug development efforts, including the foliowing:

DifTiculty in securing centers to conduct trials;

Difficulty in enrolling patients in conformity with required prolocols or projected timelines;
Unexpected adverse reactions by patients in trials;

Difficulty in obtaining clinical supplies of the product;

Changes in the FDA's requirements for our testing during the course of that testing;

Inability to generate statistically significant data confirming the efficacy of the product being tested;
Moedification of the drug during testing; and

s Reallocation of our limited financial and other resources to other clinical programs.

It is possible that none of the products we develop will obtain the regulatory approvals necessary for us to begin
commercializing them. The time required 10 obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable but often can take years following,
the commencement of clinical trials, depending upon the nature of the drug candidate. Any analysis we perform of data from
clinical activities is subject to confirmation and interpresation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, timit or prevent
regulatory approval. Any delay or failure in obtaining required approvals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
generate revenues from the particular drug candidate and we may not have the financial resources to continue 1o develop our
products and, as a resull, may have {o terminate our operations.

If we do not reach the market with our products before our competitors offer products for the same or similar uses, or if we are
not effective in marketing our products, our revenues from product sales, if any, will be reduced.

We face intense competition in our development activities. Many of our competitors are fully integrated pharmaceutical
companies and more established biotechnology companies, which have substantially greater financial, technical, sales and
marketing and human resources than we do. These companies might succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for competitive
products more rapidly than we can for our products, In addition, competitors might develop technologies and products that are less
expensive and perceived o be safer or more effective than those being developed by us, which could impair our product
development and render our technology obsolete.

We are and expect to remain dependent on collaborations with third parties for the dcvclopménr of new products, and adverse
events involving these collaborations could prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates and
achieving profitabiliry.

We currently license from third parties, and do not own, rights under patenis and certain related intellectual property for the
development of our product candidates. In addition, we expect to enter inte agreements with third parties both to license rights to
our product candidates and to develop and commercialize new products. We might not be able to enter into or maintain these
agreements on terms favorable to us, if at all. Further if any of our current licenses were to expire or lerminate, our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversety affected.

Qur research and development activities rely on technology licensed from third parties, and termination of any of those

licenses would result in loss of significant righis to develop and market our products, which weuld impair our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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We have exclusive worldwide rights to our antioxidant small molecule technology through license agreements with Duke
University and the National Jewish Medical and Research Center. Each license generally may be terminated by the ticensor if we
fail to perform our obligations under the agreement, including obligations 1o develop the compounds and technologies under
license. If terminated, we would lose the right to develop the products, which could adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations. The liccnse agreements also generally require us to meet specified milestones or
show reasonable diligence in development of the technology. Il disputes arise over the definition of these requirements or whether
we have satisfied the requirements in a timely manner, or if any other obligations in the license agreements are dispuied by the
other party, the other party could terminate the agreement, and we could lose our rights to develop the licensed 1echnology.

If new technology is developed from these licenses, we may be required to negotiale cenain key financial and other 1erms,
such as royalty paymens, for the licensing of this future technology with these research institutions, and it might not be possible
to obtain any such license on terms that are satisfaclory to us, or at all.

We now rely, and will continue to rely, heavily on third panties for product and clinical development, manufacturing,
marketing and distribution of our producits.

We currently depend heavily and will depend heavily in the future on third parties for suppon in product development,
clinical development, manufacturing, marketing and distribution of our products. The termination of some or all of our existing
collaborative arrangements, or our inability to establish and maintain collaborative arrangements, could have a material adverse
cffect on our ability 1o cominue or complete clinical development of our products.

We rely on contract clinical research organizations (“CROs™) for varigus aspects of our clinical development aclivities
including clinical trial monitoring, data collection and data management, As a result, we have had and continue to have less
control over the conduct of clinical trials, the timing and completion of the trials, the required reponing of adverse events and the
management of data developed through the trial than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Although
we rely on CROs to conduct our clinical trials, we are responsible for confirming that each of our clinical trials is conducted in
accordance with the investigational plan and protocol. Moreover, the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require us to comply
with good clinical practices (“GCPs”) for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that the data
and results are credible and accurate and that the trial participants are adequatety protected. Our reliance on third parties does not
# relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements.

The third parties on which we rely may have staffing difficulties, may undergo changes in priorities or may become
financially distressed, adversely affecting their willingness or ability to conduct our trials. We may experience unexpected cost
increases that are beyond our control. Any failure of such CROs to successfully accomplish clinical trial monitoring, data
collection and datla management and the other services they provide for us in a timely manner and in compliance with regulatery
requirements could have a material adverse effect on our ability to complete clinical development of our products and obtain
regulatory approval. Problems with the timeliness or quality of the work of a CRQ may lead us to seek to tenminate the
relationship and use an altemate service provider. However, making such changes may be costly and would likely delay our trials,
and contractual restrictions may make such a change difficult or impossible. Additionally, it may be difficult to find a replacement
organization that can conduct our trials in an acceptable manner and at an acceptable cost.

J We will need to enter into collaborative arrangements for the manufacturing and marketing of our product candidates, or we
will have to develop the expertise, obtain the additional capital and invest the resources to perform these functions internally.

We do not have the stafT or facilities to manufacture or market any of the product candidates being developed in our catalytic
antioxidant program. As a result, we will need to enter into collaborative arrangements to develop, commercialize, manufacture
and market products that we expect to emerge from cur catalytic antioxidant program, or develop the expertise within the
company. We might not be successful in entering into such third party arrangements on terms acceptable to us, if at all, 1f we are
unable to obtain or retain third-party manufacturing or marketing on acceptable terms, we may be delaycd in our ability o
commercialize products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations. Substantial additional funds and personnel would be required if we needed (o establish our own manufacturing or
marketing operations. We may not be able 10 obain adequate funding or establish these capabilities in a cost-effective or timely
manner, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

A failure 1o obtain or maintain patent and other intellectual property rights would aflow others 10 develop and sell products
similar to ours, which could impair our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The success of our business depends, in pan, on our ability to establish and maintain adequate protection for our intellectual
property, whether owned by us or licensed {rom third parties. We rely primarily on patents in the United States and in other key
markets 1o protect our intetlectual propeny. If we do not have adequate patent protection, other companics could develop and scll
products that compete directly with ours, without incuming any liability 1o us. Patent prosecution, maintenance and enforcement
on a global basis is time-consuming and expensive, and many of these costs must be incurred before we know whether a product
covered by the claims can be successfully developed or marketed.
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Even if we expend considerable time and moncy on patent prosecution, a patent application may never issue as a patent. We
can never be certain that we were.the first to invent the particular technology or that we were the first to file a patent application e
for the technology because patent applications in the United States and elsewhere are not typically published for public inspection N
for at least 18 months from the date when they are filed. It is always possible that a competitor is pursuing a patent for the same
invention in the United States as we are and has an earlier invention date. Ouiside the United States in some jurisdictions, priority
of invention is determined by the earliest effective filing date, not the date of invention. Consequently, if a third party pursues the f
same invention and has an earlier filing date, patent protection outside the United States would be unavailable to us. Also, outside
the United States, an earlier date of invention cannot overcome a date of publication that precedes the earliest effective filing date.
Accordingly, the patenting of our proposed products would be precluded outside the United States if a prior publication
anticipates the claims of a pending application, even if the date of publication is within a year of the filing of the pending 1
application.

Even if patents issue, the patent claims allowed might not be sufficiently broad to offer adequate protection for our
technology against competitive products. Patent protection differs from country to country, giving rise 10 increased competition
from other products in countries where patent coverage is either unavailable, weak or not adequately enforced, if enforced at all,
Once a patent issues, we still face the risk that others will try to design around our patent or will try to challenge the validity of the
patent. The cost of defending against a challenge to one or more of our patents could be substantial and even if we prevailed, there
could be no assurance that we would recover damages.

If a third party were to bring an infringement claim against us, we would incur significant costs in our defense; if the claim
were successful, we would need to develop non-infringing technology or obrain a license from the successful patent holder, if
available.

Our business also depends on our ability to develop and market products without infringing on the proprietary rights of others
or being in breach of our license agreements. The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by a large number of patents, patent
filings and frequent and protracted litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Many companies have
numerous patents that protect their intetlectual property rights. Third parties might assert infringement claims against us with
respect to our product candidates and future products. If litigation were required to determine the validity of a third party’s claims,
we could be required to spend significant time and financial resources, which could disiract our management and prevent us from
furthering our core business activities, regardless of the outcome. 1f we did not prevail in the litigation, we could be required to
pay damages, license a third pany's iechnology, which may not be possible on terms acceptable to us, or at al), or discontinue our
own activities and develop non-infringing technology, any of which could prevent or significantly delay pursuit of our
development activities.

Protection of trade secret and confidential information is difficult, and loss of confidentiality could eliminate our competitive
advantage.

In addition to patent protection, we rely on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and confidential information to protect our
technology. We use confidentiality agreements with our employees, consuliants and collaborators Lo maintain the proprietary
nature of this technology. However, confidentiality agreements can be breached by the other party, which would make our trade
secrets and proprietary know-how legally available for use by others. There is generaily no adequate remedy for breach of
confidentiality obligations. In addition, the competitive advantage afforded by trade secrets is limited because a third party can
independently discover or develop something identical to our own trade secrets or know-how, without incurring any liability to us.

[f our current or former employees, consultants or collaborators were to use information improperly obtained from others
{even if unintentionel), we may be subject to claims as to ownership and rights in any resulting know-how or inventions.

If we cannot retain or hire qualified personnel or maintain our collaborations, our programs could be delayed and may be
discontinued.

As of Novemnber 30, 2007, we had one full-1ime employee, our President and Chief Execulive Officer. We utilize consultants
10 assist with our operations and are highly dependent on the services of our exccutive officers. We also are dependent on our \\
collaborators for our research and development activities. The loss of key executive officers or collaborators could defay progress

in our research and development activities or result in their termination entirely.

We believe that our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract and retain highly skilled scientific and
managerial personnel. We face intense competition for these kinds of personnel from other companies, research and academic
institutions, government entitics and other organizations. If we fail 10 identify, attract and retain personnel, we may be unable to
continue the development of our product candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

We face the risk of product liability claims which could exceed our insurance coverage and deplete our cash resources.
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The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries expose us to the risk of product liability claims alleging that usc of our
product candidates cavsed an injury or harm. These claims can arise at any point in the developmeni, testing, manufacture,
marketing or sale of pharmaceutical products and may be made directly by paticats involved in clinical trials of our products, by
consumers or healthcare providers or by organizations selling our products. Product liability claims can be expensive to defend,
even if the product did not actually cause the alicged injury or harm.

Insurance covering product liability claims becomes increasingly expensive as a product candidate moves through the
development pipeline to commercialization. We have limited product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials and this
coverage may nel be sufficient to cover us against some or all potential losses due to liability, il any, or to the expenses associated
with defending against liability claims. A product liability claim successfully asserted against us could exceed our insurance
coverage, require us Lo use our ewn cash resources and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, some of our licensing and other agreements with third panies require or might require us to maintain product
liability insurance. If we cannot maintain acceptable amoums of coverage on commercially reasonable terms in accordance with
the terms set forth in these agreements, the corresponding agreements would be subject to termination.

The costs of compliance with environmental, safety and similar laws could increase oar cost of doing business or subject us to
liability in the event of noncompliance.

Our business is subject to regulation under state and federal 1aws regarding oceupational safety, laberatory practices,
environmental protection and the use, gencration, manufaciure, storage and disposal of hazardous substances. We may be required
to incur significant costs in the future to comply with existing or future environmental and health and safety regulations. Our
research aclivities involve the use of hazardous materials, chemicals and radioactive compounds. Although we believe that our
procedures for handting such materials comply with applicable state and federal regulations, we cannot eliminate the risk of’
contamination or injury from these maierials. In the event of contamination, we could be liable for any resulting damages, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of opcrations.

We are subject to intense competition that could materially impact our aperating resulfs,

We may be unable 1o compete successfully against our current or future competitors. The pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical

and biotechnology industry is characierized by intense competition and rapid and significant iechnological advancements. Many |

companies, research institutions and universities are working in a number of areas similar (o our primary fields of interest to
develop new preducts. There also is intense competition among companies seeking to acquire producis that already are being
marketed. Many of the companies with which we compete have or are likely to have substantially greater research and product
development capabilities and financial, technical, scientific, manufacturing, marketing, distribution and other resources than at
least some of our present or future strategic partners or licensecs,

As a result, these competitors may:

Succeed in developing compelilive products sooner than us or our strategic partners or licensees;

Obtain FDA and other regulatory approvals for their products before approval of any of our products;

Obtain patents that block or otherwise inhibit the development and commercialization of our product candidates;
Develop products that are safer or more effective than our products;
Devote greater resources lo marketing or selling their products;
Imroduce or adapt more guickly to new technologies or scientific advances;

» Introduce products that render our products obsolete;

=  Withstand price competition more successfully than us er our strategic partners or licensees,
s Negotiate third-party strategic alliances or licensing arrangements more effectively; or

e  Take advantage of other opportunities more readily.

.

Currently, there are three drugs approved as radiation proicction agents. Amifostine (Ethyol®) is markcted by Medlmmune,
Inc. for use in reduction of chemotherapy-induced kidney toxicity and radiation-induced xerostomia (damage to the salivary
gland). KepivanceTM (palifermin) is marketed by Amgen, Inc. for use in the treatment of severe oral mucositis {(mouth sores) in
patients with hematologic (blcod) cancers. Salagen Tablets (pilocarpine hydrochloride) is marketed by MGI Pharma in the United
States as a treatment for the symptoms of xerostomia induced by radiation therapy in head and neck cancer patients. However,
there are also many companies working to develop pharmaceuticals that act as a radiation protection agent including MGI
Pharma, Curagen Corporation, Endo Pharmaceuticals and Proteome Systems, Lid.

Currently, Rilutek®, which was developed by Aventis Pharma AG, is the only drug of which we are aware that has been
approved by the FDA for the treatment of ALS. Other companies are working to develop pharmaceuticals to treat ALS, including
the Avicena Group, CytRx Corporation, Ceregene Inc., Celgene, Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, Ono Pharmaceuticals
and Teva Pharmaceuticals. In addition, ALS belongs to a family of diseases catled ncurodegenerative discases, which includes
Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease and Huntinglon’s disease. Due (o similarities between these diseases, a new treatment
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for one disease potentially could be useful for treating others. There are many companies that are producing and developing drugs
used to treat neurodegenerative diseases other than ALS, including Amgen, Inc., Cephalon, Inc., Ceregene, Inc., Elan
Phagmaceuticals, plc, Forest Laboratories, Inc., H. Lundbeck A/S, Phytopharm plc, and Schwarz Pharma AG.

Acceptance of aur products in the marketplace is uncertain, and failure to achieve market acceptance will harm our business.

Even if approved for marketing, our products may not achieve market acceptance. The degree of market acceptance will
depend upon & number of factors, including:

the receipt of regulatory approvals for the indications that we are studying;

the establishment and demonstration in the medical community of the safety, clinical efficacy and cost-effectiveness of
our products and their potential advantages over existing therapeutic products;

marketing and distribution support;

the intreduction, market penetration and pricing strategies of competing and future products; and

coverage and reimbursement policies of governmental and other third-party payors such as insurance companies, health
maintenance organizations and other plan administrators.

Physicians, patients, payors or the medical community in general may be unwilling to accept, purchase, utilize or recommend
any of our products.

We may need to implement additional finance and accounting systems, procedures and controls to satisfy new reporting
requirements.

As a public reporting company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and
regulations of the SEC, including expanded disclosures and accelerated reporting requirements and more complex accounting
rules, including those pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Compliance with Section 404, which requires
companies to evaluate their internal control over financial reporting, and other requirements will increase our costs and require
additional management resources. Based on current SEC rules, we are required to be in compliance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 beginning in our fiscal year ending September 30, 2008.

We will nced 1o continue 10 implement additional finance and accounting sysiems, procedures and controls to satisfy new
reporting requirements, There is no assurance Lhal we will be able to complete a favorable assessment as to the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting for our fiscal year ending September 30, 2008, or that any future assessments of the
adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting will be favorable. If we are unable to obtain future unqualified repons as
to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our intemal
control over financial reporting, which could adversely affect our stock price.

Qur corporate compliance program cannot guarantee that we are in compliance with all potentially applicable regulations.

The development, manufacturing,'pricing, sales, coverage and reimbursement of our products, together with our general
operations, are subject to extensive tegulation by federal, state and other authorities within the United States and numerous entities
outside of the United States. While we have developed and instituted a corporate compliance program based on what we believe
arc the current best practices, we cannot provide any assurance that governmental authorities will find that our business practices
comply with current or future administrative or judicial interpretations of potentially applicable laws ard regulations. If we fail 1o
comply with any of these laws and regulations, we could be subject to a range ol regulatory actions, including suspension or
termination of clinical trials, the failure to approve a product candidate, restrictions on our products or manufacturing processes,
withdrawal of products from the market, significant fines, or other sanctions or litigation.

Risks Related 10 Owning Our Stock

Our principal stockholders own a significant percentage of our outstanding common stock and are, and will continue 1o be,
able 1o exercise significant influence over our affairs.

As of November 30, 2007, Xmark Opportunity Partners, LLC (“Xmark™} possessed voting power over 14,578,154 shares, or
45.6%, of our outsianding common siock, through its management of Goodnow Capital, L.L.C. (“Goodnow™), Xmark
Oppornunity Fund, L.P., Xmark Opportunity Fund, Lid. and Xmark JV Investment Partners, LLC {collectively, the “Xmark
Funds™), and through a voting trust agreement by and among Biomedical Value Fund, L.P., Biomedical Value Fund, Ltd., Xmark
Asset Management, LLC and the Company (the “Xmark Voting Trust”) with respect to 1,000,000 shares. As a result, Xmark is
able to determine a significant pan of the composition of our board of directors, holds significant voting power with respect to
maliers requining stockholder approval and is able to exercise significant influence over our operations. The interests of Xmark
may be different than the interesis of other stockholders on these and other matters. This concentration of ownership also could
have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our control or otherwise discouraging & potential acquirer from attempiing 10
obtain control of us, which could reduce the price of our comumon stock.
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Also as of November 30, 2007, Efficacy Capital Ltd. ("Efficacy Capital™) owned 9,800,000 shares, or 30.7%, of our
outstanding common stock, through its management of Efficacy Biotech Master Fund Ltd. As a result, Efficacy Capital is able to
determine a significant part of the composition of our board of directors, holds significant voling power with respect to matiers
requiring stockholder approval and is able 1o exercise significant influence over our operations. The interests of Efficacy Capital
may be different than the interests of other stockholders on these and other matiers. This concentration of ownership could also
have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to
obtain control of us, which could reduce the price of our common stock.

We mayp need 10 sell additional shares of our common stock, preferred stock or other securities to meef our capital
requirements. If we need 1o sell additional shares of our common stock, preferred stock or other securities to meel our capital
requirements, or upon conversion of our preferred stock and exercises of currently outstanding options and warrants, the
ownership interests of our current stockholders could be substantially diluted. The possibility of dilution posed by shares
available for future sale could reduce the market price of our common stock and could make it more difficult for us to raise
Junds through equity offerings in the furure.

As of November 30, 2007, we had 31,952,749 shares of common stock outstanding. We may grant to our employees,
directors and consulants options 1o purchase shares of our common stock under our 2004 Stock Option Plan. In addition, as of
November 30, 2007, options to purchase 3,908,617 shares were outstanding at exercise prices ranging from $0.38 to $51.25 per
share, with a weighted average excrcise price of $2.70 per share, and 2,901,559 shares were reserved for issuance under the 2004
Stock Option Plan. In addition, as of November 30, 2007, warrants to purchase 14,025,427 shares of common stock were
outstanding at exercise prices ranging from $0.50 to $19.90 per share, with a weighted exercise price of $1.15 per share. We have
also reserved 475,087 shares of common stock for the conversion of our outstanding Series B Preferred stock.

In connection with prior collaborations and financing transaciions, we also have issued Scries B preferred stock and a
promissory note convenible into Series B preferred stock 1o affiliates of Elan Corparation, ple (“Elan™). These securities generally
are exercisable and conventible at the option of the Elan afTiliates. The exercise or conversion of all or a portion of these securities
would dilute the ownership interests of our stockholders.

Qur common stock is not listed on a national exchange, is illiquid and is characterized by low and/or erratic trading velume,
and the per share price of our common stock has fluctuated from $0.34 19 $1.50 during the last two years,

Our common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol “AOLS.” An active public market for our common
stock is unlikely 10 develop as long as we are not listed on a national securities exchange. Even if listed, the market for our stock
may be impaired because of the limited number of investors, the significant ownership stake of EfTicacy Capital and Xmark
(through its management of Goodnow and the Xmark Funds), and our small market capitalization, which is less than that
authorized for investment by many institutionatl investors.

Historically, the public market for our common stock has been characterized by low and/or ematic trading velume, oflen
resulting in price volatility. The market price of our commeon stock is subject to wide fluctuations due to factors that we cannot
control, including the results of preclinical and clinical testing of our products under developmeni, decisions by collaborators
regarding product development, regutatory developments, market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries,
future announcements concemning our competilors, adverse developments conceming proprietary rights, public concemn as to the
safety or commercial value of any producis and general economic conditions.

Furthermore, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuation unrelated 1o the cperating
performance of panicular companies. These market fluctuations can adversely affect the market price and volatility of our
common stock.

If registration rights that we have previously granted are exercised, or if we grani additional registration rights in the future,
the price of our common stock may be adversely affecied.

Upon receiving notice from Elan, we are obligated 10 register with the SEC shares of commen stock underlying the Series B
prefemred stock, warranis to purchase Serics B preferred stock and a promissory note held by the Elan affiliates. If these securities
are registered with the SEC, they may be sold in the open markel. We expect that we also will be required to register any
securitics sold in future private financings. The sale of a significant amount of shares in the open market, or the perception that
these sales may occur, could cause the trading price of our common stock 10 decline or become highly volatile.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempis by our stockholders to replace or temove our current
management.




Provisions in our amended and restated cenificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a
change in our management. These provisions include a prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders and the
ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, because we are incorporated in
Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delawarc General Corporation Law, which prohibits
stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us, These provisions may
frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockhalders to replace or remove our current managemeni by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.

Future sales of our common stock could adversely affect its price.

Sales of substantial amounts of common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the
prevailing market price of the common stock and our ability to raise capital. We may issue additional common stock in future
financing transactions or as incentive compensation for our executive management and other key personnel, consuitants and
advisors. Issuing any equity securities would be dilutive to the equity interests represented by our then-outstanding shares of
common stock. The market price for our common stock could decrease as the market takes into account the dilutive effect of any
of these issuances.

We do not expect to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate that any cash dividends will be paid on the
common stock for the foreseeable future. The payment of any cash dividend by us will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on, among other things, our earnings, capital, regulatory requirements and financial condition.
Furthermore, the terms of some of our financing arrangements directly limit our ability to pay cash dividends on our common
stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
None.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
We are not a panty to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matiers were submitted 10 us by a vote of the security holders during the quarter ended September 30, 2007,

PART I
Itemn 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
{a} Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol “AQLS.” The following sets forth the quarterly
high and low trading prices as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board for the periods indicated. These prices are based on quotations

between dealers, which do not reflect retail mark-up, markdown or commissions, and do not necessarily represent actual
transactions.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006
October 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005
January 1, 2006 through March 31, 2006
April 1, 2006 through June 30, 2006

July 1, 2006 through September 30, 2006

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2007
October 1, 2006 through December 31, 2006
January 1, 2007 through March 31, 2007
April 1, 2007 through June 30, 2007

July 1, 2007 through September 30, 2007

(b) Stock Performance Graph

High

$1.35
$1.00
$0.90
$091

$0.85
$075
$ 1.50
$1.01

Low

$ 0.80
$0.76
$ 042
$0.50

$ 0.5t
$0.34
3 0.51
$ 037

The following graph shows a five-year comparison of cumulative total stockholder returns for Acolus, the Nasdaq Stock
Market (U.S.) Index and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index. The graph and data below assume that $100 was invested on
September 30, 2002 in each of Acolus’ Common Stock, the stocks in the Nasdaqg Stock Market (U.S.) Index and the stocks in the

$450

$350
$300
$250
$200
$150
$100

$50

Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index, and further assumes the reinvestment of all dividends,

$400 -

T

Value of $100al  Valueof $100at Value of $100at  Value of $100 a8  Value of $100 at  Value of $100 at
9/30/05

9/30/02 9/30/03 9/30/04

2130/06

9/30/07

—=— Aeolus Pharr_naceuticals, Inc. & NASDAQ Sloc_k Market (U.S.) Index -:_t—NASDACl Biofech Index

—

i Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.) $100.00 $153.16
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9/30/02 9/30/03 9/30/04 9/30/05 9/30/06 9/30/07

Acoltus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. £100.00 $428.57 $217.14 $160.00 $114.29 $72.86
$163.4] $186.60 $197.46 $23795

Nasdaq Pharmaceutical $100.00 $154.97 $133.73 $168.92 $162.41 $184.07




(c) Approximate Number of Equity Security Holders

As of November 30, 2007, the number of record holders of our common stock was 187 and we estimate that the number of
beneficial owners was approximately 2,100,

{d} Dividends

We have never paid a cash dividend on our commoen stock and we do not anticipate paying cesh dividends on our common
stock in the foresecable future. 1f we pay a cash dividend on our common stock, we also must pay the same dividend on an as
converted basis on our Series B preferred stock. Moreover, any additional preferred stock fo be issued and any future credit
facilities might contain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends on our common stock. We plan 1o retain all
eamnings, if any, for the foreseeable future for use in the operation of our business and to fund future growth,

In addition, we cannot pay a dividend on our commen stock without the prior approval of Goodnow Capital pursuant to the
terms of the Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated September 16, 2003 between us and Goodntow. This restriction
will expire on the carliest of: .

e the date that Goodnow owns less than 20% of our outstanding common stock on an as converted basis;

e the completion, to the absolute satisfaction of Goodnow, of initial clinical safety studies of AEOL 10150 and analysis of
the data developed based upon such studies with the results satisfactory to Goodnow, in its absolute discretion, to initiate
efficacy studies of AEOL 10150 in humans; or

¢ the initiation of dosing of the first human patient in an efficacy-based study of AEOL 10150,

(e) Equity Compensation Plan and Additional Equity Information as of September 30, 2007

(c)Number of securities
remaining available for

(a)Number of securities to (b)Weighted-average future issuance under
be issucd vpon exercise of exercise price of equity compeasation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and cights waccants and rights cellected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans
approved by our
stockholders: :
2004 Stock Option Plan 1,896,777 30.79 2,936,559
1994 Stock Option Plan 1,976,840 $4.57 0

Equity compensation plans

and securities not approved

by cur stockholders:

Warrant to Purchase

Common Stock Issued to

Brookstreet Securities

Corporation 250,000 $1.50 Not applicoble
Warrant to Purchase

Common Stock Issued to

TBCC Funding Trusi 1] 1,759 $19.90 Not applicable
Warrant to Purchase

Common Stock Issued to W.

Ruffin Wocody, Jr. 35,000 . $1.00 Not applicable
Total - Common Stock 4,160,376 2,936,559

Convertible Promissory Note

convertible into shares of

Series B Preferred Stock

Issued to Elan Pharma

International Limited (as of :

Septernber 30, 2007 1)(2) 53,649 $9.00 7.818

Total - Serics B Preferred
Stock 53,649 7.818

28




(1) ‘Asof September 30, 2007, each share of Series B preferred stock was convertible into one share of common
stock. :

(2) The conversion value of the note will increase by its 10% interest rate until its maturity on February §, 2009.
Description of Equity Compensation Plans and Equity Securities Not Approved by Qur Steckholders

The warrants to purchase shares of our common stock issued to Brookstreet Securities Corporation (“Brookstreet™) have not
been approved by our stockholders. In May 2006, we entered into an agreement with Brookstreet to provide us with financial
advisory services for a one-year period. For these services, we issued five warrants each to purchase up to 50,000 shares of cur
common stock with an exercise price of $0.50, $1,00, $1.50, $2.00 and $2.50 and vest on May 24, 2006, August 22, 2006,
November 20, 2006, February 18, 2007 and May 19, 2007, respectively. The warrants are exercisable for five years.

The warrant to purchase shares of our commeon stock issued to TBCC Funding Trust [} has not been approved by our

stockholders. This warrant was issued in October 2001 in connection with the execution of a Master Loan and Security Agreement

with Transamerica Technology Finance Corporation. We borrowed $565,000 from Transamerica in October 2001. The warrant
expires on October 30, 2008,

The warrant to purchase shares of our common stock issued to W, Rulfin Woody, Jr. has not been approved by our
stockholders. This warrant was issued in July 2003 in connection with the cxecution of a $35,000 promissory note payable to
Mr. Woody. The warrant expires on July 11, 2008,

(e) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

() Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer.and Affiliated Purchases

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

You should read the following selected financial data in conjunction with our consolidated financiai statements and the notes
to those statements and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included
clsewhere in this Form 10-K. We derived the consolidated statements of operations data for the five fiscal years ended September
30, 2007 and the related consolidated balance sheet data at those dates from our audited consolidated financiat statements. Except
for the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated balance
sheet data a1 September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, each of these consolidated financial statements are included elsewhere in this
Form 10-K. The financial results for prior years have been reclassified to present our tiver therapy program’s operations as
discontinued operations. All common slock amounts have been adjusted for a one-for-ten reverse stock split effected in July
2004, .

Statement of Operations Data:

Year Ended September 30,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2063
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:
Grant income and contract revenue $ — 3 92 $ 252§ 305 % —
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 1,381 3,480 4515 8,295 2,780
General and administrative 1,919 2,216 2,674 3,987 2,025
Total costs and expenses N 3,300 5,696 7,189 12,282 4,805
Loss from operations {3,300) {5,604} 6,937) {1197 (4,805)
Gain on forgiveness of debt 225 —. —_— - —
Equity in income of CPEC LLC — 433 —_ — —
Equity in Yoss of Incara Development — - — — (76)
Increase in fair value of common stock warranis — (604) —_ — —_
Interest income (expense), net 51 (%) (31) {5,213) (192}
Other income — 53 63 23 223
Loss rom continuing operations (3,024) (5,728) (6,903) (17,167) (4.850)
Discontinued operations —_ — —_ — {38)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations — — — — 1912
Net loss (3.024)  (5.728) (6.905) ~ (17.167) (2,976)
Preferred stock dividend and accretion —_— (81} — (135) (949)
Net loss attributabie to common stockholders $ (3,024) & (5809) § (6)903) $(17,302) § (3,925)
R — L] L]
Net loss per share from continuing operations available to
comunon stockholders $ (010) $ (031) $ (049) $ (206) § (425)

Net loss per share attributable 10 common stockholders $ (010) $ (031) § (049) $ (2.06) § (2.88)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted 30,239 18,926 13,976 8,388 1,363
WIS $"EEEEENEE $2TEELEEEES S S

Balance Shect Data:

September 39,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{in thousands}

Cash and cash cquivalents and marketable securities $£1,727 $£3324 § 626 § 7138 § 586
Working capital (deficiency) $£1,538 $1581 $ -(73) % 6,093 § (2,242)
Total assets $1,931 $3554 § 937 § 785 § 1,080
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations and notes payable$ 483 $ — $ 867 § 787 § T14
Redeemable convertible exchangeable preferred stock s — 5§ — 5 — 5 — § 14,503
Total liabilities $ 751 $1847 § 1869 § 2324 § 18,159
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $1180 $1,707 & (932) § 5532 $§(17,079)
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ftem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.
Introduction

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes appearing
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including those discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Overview

We are developing a series of catalytic antioxidant molecules 1o protect against the damaging effects of reactive-oxygen
derived molecules, commonly referred to as free radicals. Free radicals cause damage in a broad group of diseases and conditions.
Our initial target applications will be the use of our catalytic antioxidants for the treatment of mustard gas exposure, cancer
radiation therapy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, also known as “ALS" or “Lou Gehrig's disease.” However, further
development of AEOL 10150 in radiation therapy and ALS will be dependent on the results of our ongoing studies of AEOL
10150 for the treatment of mustard gas exposure. We have reported positive safety results from two Phase | clinical trials of
AEQL 10150 in patients diagnosed with ALS with no serious adverse events noted.

We do not have any recurring revenue and therefore we must rely on public or private equity offerings, debt financings,
collaboration arrangements or grants 1o finance our operations.

We had net lesses attributable tg common stockholders of $3,024,000 and $5,809,000 for the fiscal years ended September
30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of $155,926,000 at September 30, 2007. We have not yet
generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect to receive any product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ar all.

Corporate Matfers

On November 21, 2003, we completed a private placement of an aggregate of 1,250,000 shares of our Senies A Convertible
Preferred Stock and warrants lo purchase up to an aggregate of 2,500,000 shares of common stock for aggregate net proceeds of
approximately $2,400,000 (the “2005 Financing™). Each share of the Series A preferred stock, which had a stated value of $2.00
per share, was initially convertible into two shares of common stock at any time at the election of the holders thereof. The
warrants had an initial exercise price of $1.00 per share.

On Junc 5, 2006, we completed a private placement of 10,000,000 shares of our Common Stock, warrants to purchase up to
an aggregate of 7,000,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.75 per share and a five year term and warranis to
purchase up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.50 per share and a one year term
(which expired on June 5, 2007 without being exercised) for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $4,754,000 (the “2006
Financing™).

In connection with the 2006 Financing, all cutstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock were converted into an
aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of common stock. In addition, the exercise price of the warranis lo purchase up to an aggregate of
2,500,000 shares of common stock issued in the 2005 Financing were lowered from $1.00 per share to $0.50 per share in
accordance with the terms of the warrants,

On May 22, 2007, we completed a private placement of 2,666,667 shares of our Common Stock, warrants to purchase up to
an aggregate of 2,000,001 shares of commeon stock with an exercise price of $0.75 per share and a five year term for aggregate net
proceeds of approximately $1,761,000 (the * 2007 Financing™.

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2007 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006

‘We had a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $3,024,000 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, versus a
net loss attributable to common stockholders of $5,809,000 for fiscal 2006.

In August 2003, we were awarded a $100,000 Small Business Innovation and Research (“SBIR™) Phase ! grant from the
National Cancer Institute, a division of the NIH. In March 2004, we were awarded up to $375,000 for the first year of a SBIR
Phase II grant and received approval for a second year of the Phase 11 grant program in January 20035. Pursuant to the grants, we
are studying the antitumor and radiation-protective effects of our catalytic antioxidants. The study is a collaboration between us
and the Department of Radiation Oncology at Duke University Medical Center. We recognized zero and $92,000 of grant income
during fiscal year 2007 and 2006, respectively from our SBIR grant from the National Cancer lnstxtute We do nol expect to earn
further grant revenues as work undcr our SBIR grant has been completed.
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Research and Development -

Research and development (“*R&D") expenses decreased $2,099,000, or 60%, to $1,381,000 for fiscal 2007 from $3,480,000
for fiscal 2006. Our primary operational focus and R&D spending during fiscal year 2007 was on finalizing our Phase I multiple
dose clinical tril for the reatment of ALS, planning the future clinica! and development plan for AEOL 10150 and AEOL 11207
as well as advancing additional drug candidates in our pipeline, while our primary operational focus and R&D spending during
fiscal year 2006 was on conducting our Phase 1 multiple dose clinical trial for the treatment of ALS and the advancement of the
Acolus Pipeline Initiative. Clinical trial expenses for fiscal year 2007 were $64,000 compared 1o $1,233,000 during fiscal year
2006, Preclinical expenses primarily related to the development of additional drug candidates in our pipeline for fiscal year 2007
were $72,000, whereas preclinical expenses during fiscal year 2006 were $585,000. Patent fees also decreased by $629,000
during the current year as we were in the process of validating several patents intenationally duning fiscal 2006 while no such
activity occurred during fiscal 2007. Offsetting these declines was an increase of $400,000 in contract manufacturing and
chemistry costs.

R&D expenses for our antioxidant program have totaled $33,534,000 from inception through September 30, 2007, Because of
the uncertainty of our research and development and clinical studies, we are unable to predict the total level of spending on the
program or the program completion date. However, we expect R&D expenses during fiscal year 2008 will be higher than fiscal
2007 as we may initiate additional clinical trials of AEOL 10150. Our ongoing cash requirements will also depend on numerous
factors, particutarly the progress of our R&D programs and our ability to negotiate and complete collaborative agreements.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include corporate costs required Lo support our company, our employees and consuliants
and our stockholders. These costs include personnel and outside costs in the areas of legal, human resources, investor relations and
finance. Additionally, we include in gereral and administrative expenses such costs as rent, repair and maintenance of buildings
and equipment, depreciation, wtilities, information technology and procurement costs thar we need to suppon ihe corporate
funciions listed above,

General and administrative (“G&A™) expenses decreased $297,000, or 13%, to $1,919,000 for fiscal year 2007 from
$2,216,000 for fiscal year 2006. G&A expenses were lower during fiscal year 2007 versus fiscal year 2006 due to our effonts to
decreasc the level of services provided by consultants resulting in a decline of $160,000 in legal and professional fees and a
decline of $135,000 in employee compensation. Offsetting these decline were increased non-cash stock expenses in the amount of

$132,000.

During fiscal 2007, we recognized $225,000 in income as a result of the forgiveness of a portion of the principal balance of a
note payable from Elan Corporation, ple. (“Elan™). In connection with the termination of a note payable and issuance of a new
note payable, we paid $300,000 in cash to Elan, Elan and the Company entered into a new nole payable in the amount of $453,000
for a period of two years under substantially the same terms as the original note and Elan forgave $225,000 of the original note
payable.

During fiscal 2006, CPEC LLC, received a milestone payment and equity consideration from ARCA Discovery, Inc., a
pnvately held cardiovascular-focused company (“*ARCA™). In 2003, CPEC LLC (“CPEC™), of which we own 35%, out-licensed
all rights to a potential therapeutic compound referred to as “bucindolol” to ARCA. During fiscal 2006, CPEC agreed 10 modify
the license agreement between CPEC and ARCA and received 400,000 shares of ARCA common stock as consideration for the
amendment. In addition, during fiscal 2006, CPEC received a milestone payment of $1,000,000 as a result of ARCA completing
a financing. We recorded $433,000 of income during fiscal 2006 as a result of our equity ownership of CPEC LLC.

In accordance with EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Denvative Financial Instruments Indexed To, and Potentially Scitled In a
Company’s Own Stock,” and the terms of the warrants and the transaction documents in our 2005 Financing and 2006 Financing,
at the closing dates, November 21, 2005 and June 5, 2006, respectively, the fair value of the warrants issued in the financings
were initially accounted for as liabilities until the date the applicable registretion statement registering the shares underlying the
warrants was declared efTective by the Securitics and Exchange Commission. The warrant liabilities were revalued at each
balance sheet date until the EITF 00-19 equity classification requirements were satisfied and changes in fair value were charged to
the statement of operations. Between November 21, 2005 and March 1, 2006, the fair value of the 2005 Financing warrants
decreased by $401,000 which was credited to the statement of operations. On March 1, 2006, the Securities and Exchange
Commission declared the registration statement registering the shares underlying the warrants in the 2005 Financing cffective and
accordingly the warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital. During the period from June 5, 2006 0 July 31,
2006, the fair value of the 2006 Financing warrants increased by $901,000 which was charged to the statement of gperations. On
July 31, 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared the registration statement registering the shares underlying the
warrants issued in the 2006 Financing effective and accordingly the warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital,
No such lability was required during the current year for the May 2007 financing. The warrant liability and revaluations have not
and will not have any impact on the Company’s working capital, liquidity, or business operations,
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In connection with the 2006 Financing, we were required 1o reduce the exercise price of the 2005 Financing warrants to
purchase 2,500,000 shares of common stock from §1.00 per share to $0.50 per share, the purchase price of the commeon stock
issued in the 2006 Financing. As a result of the change in the exercise price, these warrants were revalued resulting in an increase
in their value of $105,000 which was charged 1o the statement of operations,

We accreted $81,000 of dividends on our Series A preferred stock during fiscal 2006. All of the outstanding Series A
Conventible Preferred Stock was converted into common stock in fiscal 2006 and we no longer accrete dividends on the Serics A
Convertible Preferred Stock.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006 Compared 1o Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005

We had a net loss attributable 10 common stockholders of $5,809,000 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, versus a
net loss attributable 1o common stockholders of $6,905,000 fer fiscal 2005.

We recognized $92,000 of grant income during the fiscal year 2006 versus $252,000 of grant income duning fiscal year 2003.
Research and Development

Research and development (“R&D") expenses decreased $1,035,000, or 23%, to $3,480,000 for fiscal year 2606 from
$4,515,000 for fiscal year 2005. Qur primary operational focus and R&D spending during fiscal year 2006 was on conducting our
Phase 1 multiple dose clinical trial for the reatment of ALS and the advancement of the Aeolus Pipeline Initiative, while cur
primary operational focus and R&D spending during fiscal year 2005 was on preclinical pharmacology and toxicology tests on
our lead compound, AEOL 10150, and the launch of cur Phase | single dose clinical trial for the treatment of ALS. Clinical irial
expensces for fiscal year 2006 were $1,233,000 compared to $1,754,000 during fiscal year 2005. Preclinical expenses primarily
related 1o the Aeolus Pipeline Initiative for fiscal year 2006 were $585,000, whereas preclinical expenses related to pharmacology
and toxicology testing of AEOL 10150 during fiscal year 2005 were $994,000. In addition, we closed our laboratory facilities in
2005 reducing occupancy expenses by $283,000 during fiscal year 2006 when compared to fiscal year 2005. Offsetting these
declines in fiscal year 2006 were increased patent fees ($357,000) as a result of some of our patents entering the international
validation phase,

General and Administrative

General and administrative (*G&A") expenses decreased $458,000, or 17%, 10 $2,216,000 for fiscal year 2006 from
$2,674,000 for fiscal year 2005. G&A expenses were lower during fiscal year 2006 versus fiscal year 2005 due to a decline in
employment costs and rent expenses offset by a higher level of consulting, legal and accounting fees. During fiscal year 2006, the
Company’s administration and accounting activities were outsourced while during the same period in 2005, employees performed
these functions resulting in a higher level of consulting fees ($252,000) and a lower level of employment costs (3251,000) during
fiscal year 2006. Legal and accounting fees increased $108,000 during fiscal year 2006 as a result of the Company's increased
regulatory compliance responsibilities. Occupancy costs decreased by $334,000 duning fiscal year 2006 compared to the prior
year as the Company closed its administrative ofTices in August 2005 and outsourced all of its administration functions, as a result
of which we did not incur any rental expense during fiscal year 2006. Also, during fiscal year 2005, we incurred $219,000 of
severance expenses as we did not renew the employment contract with our former Chief Financial Officer.

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123{R). SFAS No. [23(R) requires that we recognize the fair value of
equity awards granted to our employees as compensation expense in the income statement over the requisite service period. For
fiscal year 2006, we recognized $224,000 in employee stock-based compensation expense as a result of the adoption of SFAS No.
123(R), which is included in G&A expenses. Additionally, we recognized $157,000 of stock-based compensation charges
associated with stock option grants to consultants that were included in G&A expenses.

During fiscal 2006, CPEC LLC, received a milestone payment and equity consideration from ARCA Discovery, Inc., a
privatcly held cardiovascular-focused company (*ARCA”). In 2003, CPEC LLC (*CPEC"), of which we own 35%, out-licensed
all rights to a potential therapeutic compound referred to as “bucindolol” 10 ARCA. During fiscal 2006, CPEC agreed to modily
the licensc agreement between CPEC and ARCA and received 400,000 shares of ARCA common stock as consideration for the
amendment. In addition, during fiscal 2006, CPEC received a milestone payment of $1,000,000 as a result of ARCA completing
a financing. We recorded $433,000 of income during fiscal 2006 as a result of our equity ownership of CPEC LLC.

tn accordance with EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed To, and Potentially Settled In a
Company's Own Stock,” and the terms of the warrants and the transaction documenis in our 2005 Financing and 2006 Financing,
at the closing dates, November 21, 2005 and June 5, 2006, respectively, the fair value of the warrants issued in the financings
were initially accounted for as liabilities until the date the applicable registration statement registering the shares underlying the
warrants was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The warrant liabilities were revalued at each
balance sheet date until the EITF 00-19 equity classification requirements were satisficd and changes in fair value were charged to
the statement of operations. Between November 21, 2005 and March 1, 2006, the fair value of the 2005 Financing warrants
decreased by $401,000 which was credited to the statement of operations. On March 1, 2006, the Securities and Exchange
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Commission declared the registration statement registering the shares underlying the warrants in the 2005 Financing effective and
accordingly the warrant liability was reclassified 10 additional paid in capital. During the period from June 5, 2006 to July 31,
2006, the fair value of the 2006 Financing warrants increased by $301,000 which was charged to the statement of operations. On
July 31, 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared the registration statement registering the shares underlying the
warrants issued in the 2006 Financing effective and accordingly the wammznt liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital.
The warrant liability and revaluations have not and will not have any impact on the Company's working capital, liquidity, or
business operations,

In connection with the 2006 Financing, we were required to reduce the exercise price of the 2005 Financing warranis to
purchase 2,500,000 shares of common stock from $1.00 per share 10 $0.50 per share, the purchase price of the common stock
issued in the 2006 Financing. As a result of the change in the exercise price, these warrants were revalued resulting in an increase
in their. value of $105,000 which was charged to the statement of operations.

We accreted $81,000 of dividends on our Series A preferred stock during fiscal 2006. Al of the oumstanding Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock was converted into common stock in fiscal 2006 and we no longer accrete dividends on the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock.

Liquldity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2007, we had $1,727,000 of cash, a decrease of $1,597,000 from September 30, 2006. The decrease in cash
from September 30, 2006 to 2007 was primarily due to our fiscal 2007 operating expenses offset by the May 2007 financing. We
believe we have adequate financial resources to conduct operations into the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008. This raises
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concemn, which will be dependent on our ability to generate sufficient
cash flows to meet our obligations on a 1imely basis, to obtain additional financing and, ultimately, o achieve operating profit.

We incurred operational Josses of $3,300,000 during fiscal 2007, Our ongoing cash requirements will depend on numerous
factors, particularly the progress of our catalytic amtiexidant program and clinical trials and our ability to negotiate and complete
collaborative agreements or out-licensing arrangements. In order to help fund our on-going operating cash requirements, we
intend to seek new collaborations for our antioxidant research program that include initial cash payments and on-going research
support. In addition, we will need to raise additional funds and explore other strategic and financial altematjves, including a
merger with another company and the establishment of new collaborations for current research programs that include initial cash
payments and ongoing research suppori, or the out-licensing of our compeunds for development by a third party.

There are significant uncertainties as to our ability to access potential sources of capital. We may not be able to enter into any
collaboration on terms acceptable to us, or at all, due to conditions in the pharmaceutical industry or in the economy in general or
based on the prospects of our catalytic antioxidant program. Even if we are successful in obtaining a collaboration for our
antioxidant program, we may have 1o relinquish rights to technologics, preduct candidates or markeis that we might otherwise
develop ourselves. These same risks apply 1o any attempt to oui-license our compounds.

Similarly, due to market conditions, the illiquid nature of our stock and other possible limitations on equity offerings, we may
not be able to sell additional securities or raise other funds on terms acceptable to us, if at all. [t generally is difficult for small
biotechnology companies like us to raise funds in the equity markets, Any additional equity financing, if available, would likely
result in substantial dilution to existing stockholders.

Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate Lo support our operations is
forward-looking information, and actual results could vary.

Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations (in thousands) as of September 30, 2007 were as follows:

Payments due by period

Less than 1 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Qbligations Total Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-term debt § 483 5 — $ 483 $ — § —
Capital lease obligations — — —_— — —_
Operating leases — — — — —
Purchase obligations EEX) 333 —_— —_ —
Total $ B8l6 5 333 $ 483 § — % —
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or
capital resources as defined under the rules of SEC Release No. FR-67. We do have operating leases, which are gencrally for
office and laboratory space. [n accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, operating leases are
not reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We do not have any capital Ieases.

Relationship with Goodnow Capital

In July 2003, we initiated a series of transactions that led to our corporate reorganization and recapitalization. We obtained an
aggregate of $8.0 million in secured bridge financing in the form of conventible promissory notes we issued io Goodnow Capital,
L.L.C. A portion of this financing allowed us to pay our past due payables and become current, We used the remainder for our
operations, including a toxicology study for our catalytic antioxidant compounds under development as a treatment for ALS.

We compleied our corporate reorganization on November 20, 2003. The reorganization involved the merger of our former
parent company into one of its wholly owned subsidiaries. Upon consummation of the merger, a $3.0 million note held by
Goodnow, including accrued interest, converted into 3,060,144 shares of our common stock. On April 19, 2004, we sold $10.26
million of our common stock in a private placement. In conjunction with the private placement, Goodnow voluntarily converted a
$5.0 million debenture, including accrued interest thereon, into 5,046,875 shares of our common stock, which, along with the
3,060,144 shares issued in the merger and the 20 shares that Goodnow owned before the consummation of the merger, represented
58.1% of the shares of our common stock outstanding on November 30, 2004. As of November 30, 2007, Xmark, through its
management of Goodnow and the Xmark Funds, and through the Xmark Voting Trust, had voting power over 45.6% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result of this significant ownership, Goodnow is able to significantly influence, if not control,
future actions voted on by stockholders of our company. -

As part of the $8.0 miltion financing from Geodnow, we agreed:

« 1o secure the $8.0 million debt with liens on all of our assets, which liens expired on April 19, 2004 when the remaining
debt converted to shares of common stock; .

= 1o spend the financing proceeds only in accordance with a budget and development plan agreed to by Goodnow;

¢ 10 nol enter into any arrangemeni with a party other than Goodnow in which we would raise capital through the issuance
of our securities other than the raising of up to an aggregate of $20,000,000 through the issuance of shares of our
common slock at a price of greater than $3.00 per share and which would represent 25% or less of our then outstanding
common sleck on an as-converted to common and fully diluted basis. If we agree to or consummate a financing
transaction with someone other than Goodnow that exceeds these limitations, we will pay Goodnow a break-up fee of
$500,000. Goodnow approved the April 2004 private placement, which exceeded these limitatiens, and waived the fee.
However, the $20,000,000 limitation was lowered to $9,740,000 and the 25% limitation was reduced to zero. Goodnow
also approved the 2005 Financing, the 2006 Financing and the 2007 Financing, each of which exceeded these limitalions
and waived the fee; and )

+ 1o altow Goodnow to appoint one director to our board of directors, provided Goodnow owns al least 10%, but less than
20%, of our outstanding common stock, on an as-converted to common and fully diluted basis, and two directors if
Goodnow owns more than 20% of our outstanding common stock.

In addition, without Goodnow's prior approval, we have agreed to not:

» make any expenditure or senies of related expenditures in excess of $25,000, except (i) expenditures pursuant to the SBIR
grant from the U.S. Small Business Administration, (ii} specified in a budget approved in writing in advance by
Goodnow and our Board, and (iii} directly relating 1o the development of AEOL 10150 for the treatment of ALS;
change our business or operations;

merge wilh or sell or lease a substantial portion of our assets 1o any entity;

incur debt from any third party or place a lien on any of our propenies;

amend our certificate of incorporation or bylaws;

increase the compensation we pay our employees;

pay dividends on any class of our capital stock;

cancel any debt except for full value; or

issue any capital stock except pursuant to agreements with or as agreed 10 by Geodnow.

The affimative covenants expire on the earliest of:

+  the date that Goodnow owns less than 20% of our cutstanding common stock on an as converted basis;
the completion, to the absolule satisfaction of Goodnow, of initial clinical safety studies of AEQL 10130, and analysis of
the data developed based upon such studies with results satisfactory to Goodnow, in its absolute discretion, to initiate
efficacy studies of AEOL 10150; or

» the initiation of dosing of the first hurnan patient in an efTicacy-based study of AEQL 10150.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, which require us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, We evaluaie our estimates, judgments and the
policies underlying these estimates on a periodic basis as the situation changes, and regularly discuss financial events, policies,
and issues with our independent registered public accounting firm and members of our audit commitiee. We routinely evaluate our
estimales and policies regarding revenue recognition; clinical trial, preclinical, manufacturing and patent related labilities; license
obligations; inventory; intangible assets; share-based payments; and deferred tax assets.

We generally enter into contractual agreements with third-panty vendors 1o provide clinical, preclinical and manufacturing
services in the ordinary course of business. Many of these contracts are subject to milestone-based invoicing and the contract
could extend over several years. We record liabilities under these contractual commitments when we determine an obligation has
been incurred, regardless of the timing of the invoice. Patent-related liabilities are recorded based upon various assumptions or
events that we believe are the most reasonable to each individual circumstance, as well as based upon historical experience.
License milesione liabilities and the related expense are recorded when the milestone criterion achievement is probable, We have
not recognized any assets for inventory, intangible items or deferred taxes as we have yet to receive regulatory approval for any of
our compounds. Any potential asset that could be recorded in regards to any of these items is fully reserved. In all cases, actual
results may differ from our estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

New Accounting Proncuncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN No. 48™), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,” which creates a comprehensive model to address
accounting for uncenainty in tax positions. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a minimum
recognition threshold a 1ax position is required to meet before being recognized for financial statements. FIN No. 48 also provides
guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, aceounting in imerim periods, disclosure and
transition. The adoption of FIN No. 48 is efTective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 (or Octeber 1, 2007 for the
Company). Management does not expect this interpretation o materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.

ftem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are not a party 10 any derivative financial instruments. Our exposure to market risk primarily relates to changes in interest
rates on our investments with maturities of less than three months (which are considered to be cash and cash equivalents),

Changes in interest rates affect the investment income earned on those investments.

At September 30, 2007, we had one fixed-rate note payable. Since this instrument is a fixed-rate note, it does not expose us
to the risk of eamings loss due to changes in market interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statemenits and Supplementary Data.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the
“Company”) as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for cach of the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility
is 10 express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for cach of the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005, in conformity with accounting principles generalty accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note B of the consolidated financial statements, the Company
has suffered recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations and does not currently possess sufficient
working capital to fund its operations throughout the next fiscal year. These matters raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these maiters
are also described in Note B. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

fs/ Haskell & White LLP

HASKELL & WHITE LLP

Irvine, California
December 5, 2007




AEOQLUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars In thousands, except per share data)

September 30,
2007 2006
ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,727 0§ 3324

Prepaids and other current assets 79 104
Total current assets 1,806 3,428
Investment in CPEC LLC 125 126
Toal assets $ 1931 $ 3,554

L ] ]}
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable _ 5 266 % 868
Accrued expenses o 2 23
Current malurity of long-term note payable —_ 956
Total current hiabilities 263 1,847
Long-term note payable 483 —
Total liabilities 751 1,847

Commitments and Contingencies (Note E and J)

Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares euthorized:

Series B nonredeemable convertible preferred stock, 600,000 shares authorized; ‘
475,087 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 5 5

Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
31,952,749 and 29,265,249 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2007

and 2006, respectively 320 293
Additional paid-in capital 156,781 154,311
Accumulated deficit (155.926) (152,902}
Total stockholders' equity {deficit) 1,180 1,707
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit) $ 1931 § 3554

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemens.
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AEOLUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Grant income

Cosis and expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses

Loss from operations

Equity in income of CPEC LLC {$315 dividend
received in 2006)

Interest income {expense), net

Increase in fair value of common stock warrants
Other income

Net loss

Preferred stock dividend and accretion

Nel loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per common share (basic and diluted):

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2007 2006 2005
$ — s 92 s 25
1,381 3,480 4,515
1,919 2,216 2,674
3,300 5,696 7,189
(3,300) (5,604) (6,937)
— 433 —
51 (6) (1)
— (604) _
225 53 63
(3,024) (5,728) (6,905)
$ (3,024) $ (5809) $ (6,905)
$ (0.10) § (031) $ (0.49)
30,239 18,926 13,976
] ————

The accompanying notes ure an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




ov

‘SwRI0IS oDl p1opiosuod asays o riod jpalaru uv 24 sarou Suidupduoodo ay |

LoL'l g (zosTs1) § TIEPSI § 678  6¥T'S9T6T S S LS0'SLy - —
(8zL's) (8zL's) — - — - - — -

— (18) 08 ] 859°81(1 —_ — - —

19¢'L — 19€°L — — — —_ — —

00s —_ 00S — — — — — —

£ —_ z8 | ZE£'e8 — — — —

£l — zl i 000'sZ — - - —

vl - £ 001 000'000'01 — — — —

233 — POE 0s 000'000's (vse) (ooo‘0sZ‘1)
(£8) - (L8 —_ — — — pSES 000°052°1
{zee) “(E60'LYl) 910l ob{ 65T'8C0°FI € LBO'SLY — —
{506'9) (506'9) - - - —_ - —_ —

8 — 8 -— — — — — —

£9 — 79 1 66029 — — — -

£67 — £62 — - — — — —

— — — — LSH'8T —  (LsH'8D) — —

zes's § (881'01) § 9.8kl $ GE1 §  COCLPE'El §  § ppSEoS — —

:_u_u_uﬁ_u :u:.-..ﬁ_ —Nu_n__wu o_.:u> m@.::—m. N|BA muhwzm .-D INBA mu._acm .—0
Linby pA)BIWNIIY  uIl-piey ied  joadqunpn B4 A3qunyi J8d J2qunN

SIIPOYNINSG [euonppy }30)§ UOWIDOY) NI01S PILjAI {Aymba jo yud you)

g10L g sy H20)S pailajald

(spussnoy) uj seeqjoq)
(L121430) ALINDI SHAGTOHNDOLS 40 SLNAWILV.LS AILVAITOSNOD
"ONI'STYDLLNADVINHVHL SN103V

v sauag

9007 ‘0 Jaquaidag 1e souejeg

9007 ‘0t Jaquadag papus 183K |eISY Y L0 SSO[ 19N
UOHAIJE PUB SPUAPIALP F2015 paudjaud v souag
SINLRI] WTLEM X015 HOWILLIOD JO UDIIBILISSE|23Y
Sijuenem

JO uonigziuowe pue uonesuadwiod paseq-3o0is
suondo 201§ UDWILIOD JO 351X

1auraaife

35u2d1] B 01 )uRnsind panssy %001 uounuoD)

000'9$$ JO 51500 23UBNSS1 JO

12U ‘Funid)jo Y2018 o1 wensind ¥oo1s uowwon jo 3[Bg
32018 PalIalald Y SIS JO LOISIIAUDY)

000°£8% J0 51502
S5UBNSSE JO 1AL ‘YI0IS PALDJ31d W SIHS JO J4eS

$007 ‘0t toquindag 12 saueteq

$00Z ‘0f Iegquaidag popua I2ak [2ISY 21 10} §50] 1IN
uonesuadinod paseq-yo01g

suondo Y3015 UCUIUOD JO 351X

suondo #0075 sakopdus

Jo Sunsaa paimafa2ow 31 uo suadxa vonesuadinoy)
}201s pauajad

g sauag Jo Bueydxa ui panssi Y201 UOWWOY)

+00Z ‘0¢ Jaquadag 1e acuejeg




“SIUDWDIDIS PI2UDUL] PAICEIIosu0d asay) fo 1iod [paSaiuy uo 2.4p sajou Jurunduiosdo oy

081°l § (9T6'sS1) § I8L'9S1 § O0ZE S 6PLISE'IE § § LBO'SLY — —
(vzo'se) {(vzo'e) — - — — — — —
91 — oL - - — - — —
0T — 0z — £ER'OZ — — - —
194t — pEL'l £z 199'999'c — — — —
LoL't $ (T06'TSL)  $ LIEPS1 § €6 S 6pT'SOT6T € LSO'SLY - —_
Py nmaq rexde) angeA saaeyg IN[BA  SIIBLG JO AN[BA  SAIBYS JO
Lmbj phBMUNY  u-pled B4 Jolaquny  JBd  Jqumpn Jvd | aaquny
SHIPIOYNINS feusnippy 03§ UoWIWoD) WI01S padsajarg {£nnba jo yed you)
L2 LA g saliag HI0)§ pasidjaad
V saLag

(spursnoqg; oy sie[joq)

L00T ‘0f 1oquwaidag 12 20uERg

L00Z ‘0f Iaquiaidss papua reak JBIsy ay) 10) $50] 1aN
SIURLIEM

JO UoNRZIVOWR PUR UOHESUDWOD PIsEq-o01S
suondo %3018 UOWWOS JO IS12IIXT

000'6£7$ JO 51500 92UBNSSI JO
15U ‘FuLago ¥3015 01 wwensind Y5015 UOWIO Jo I|BS

9007 ‘0f tequadag 12 aoueeg

(panupuod) (LIDI4AM® ALINDOA SHAATOHNIOLS 40 SINTIWILVLS AALVAI'TOSNOD
*ONI'STVILLNADVIWHYHC SNT103V




AEOLUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(1n thousands)
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2097 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(3.024) % (5728) § (6,905)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to nel cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization — - 9

Noncash compensation 716 500 293

Noncash interest and financing costs 52 89 &

Noncash consulting and license fee — 13 85

(Gain) on foregiveness of note payable (225) — —

Increase in fair value of common stock warranis — 604 —

{Gain) on sale or disposal of equipment — — (19)
Change in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 1 13 124

Prepaids and other assets 24 (247) 25

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (623) (111) (535)
Net cash used in operating activilies : {3,079) (4,867) (6,842)
Cash flows {rom investing activities:

Proceeds from dividend from CPEC LLC — 315 —

Proceeds from sale of equipment — — 25
Net cash provided by investing activities — 315 25
Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of Note Payable (300) — -

Proceeds from the issuance of Series A Preferred Stock — 2,500 —

Costs related to the issuance of Series A Preferred Stock —_ {87) -

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warranis 2,000 5,000 —_

Costs related to the issuance of common stock and warrants (239} (246) —

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 21 83 62
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,482 7,250 62
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents {1,597) 2,698 (6,755)
Cash and cash equivalents a1l beginning of year 3,324 626 7,381
Cash and cash cquivalents at end of year | $ 1,727 $ 3,324 5 626
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash payments of interest $ — 3 — 3 —
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued in exchange for Series A preferred stock ! — % 34 5 —
Common stock issued in exchange for Series B preferred stock s — s — M 28
Preferred stock dividend accreted 3 — $ 81 b3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial siatements.
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AEOLUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

A, Nature of the Business

Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical company that is developing a new class of catalytic antioxidam
compounds for diseases and disorders of the central nervous system, respiratory system, autoimimune system and oncology.

The “Company™ or "Aeolus” refers collectively to Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (**Aeolus”) and its
wholly owned subsidiary, Aeolus Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Aeclus Sciences™). As of September 30, 2007, Aeolus
also owned a 35.0% interest in CPEC LLC, a Detaware limited liability company (“CPEC"). The Company’s primary opcrations
are located in Laguna Niguel, Califomnia.

B. Liquidity

The Company has incurred significant opcrating losses and cash ouwtflows from operations of $3,024,000 and $3,079,000 for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, respectively. The Company expects 1o incur additional losses and negative cash flow
from operations in fiscal 2008 and for several more years. Management believes the Company has adequate financial resources to
conduct operations into the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008, This raises subsiantial doubi about our ability to continue as a going
concern, which will be dependent on our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet our obligations on a timely basis, to
obtain additional financing and, ultimately, to achieve operating profit.

The Company intends to explore strategic and financial allernatives, including a merger with another company, the sale of
shares of stock, the esiablishment of new collaborations lor current research programs that include initial cash payments and on-
going research suppont and the out-licensing of our compounds for development by a third party. The Company believes that
without additional investment eapital it will not have sufficient cash to fund its activities in the near future, and will not be able to
continue operaling. As such, the Company's continuation as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to raise additional
financing. The Company is actively pursuing additional equity financing to provide the necessary funds for working capital and
other planned activities.

If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing to fund operations beyond the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008, it
will need to eliminate some or alt of its activities, merge with another company, sell some or all of its assets to another company,
or cease operalions entirely. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain additional {inancing on favorable
terms or at all, or that the Company will be able to merge with another Company or sell any or all of its assets.

C. Summary of Signilicant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Aeolus and its wholly owned subsidiary. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The Company uses the equity method to account for its 35.0%
ownership interest in CPEC.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reporicd amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those cstimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company invests available cash in short-lerm bank deposits, money market funds, commercial paper and U.S,
Government securities. Cash and cash equivalents include investments with maturitics of three months or less at the daie of
purchasc. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalems approximate their fair market value a1 September 30, 2007 and 2006
due 10 their shon-term nature.

Property and Equipment

Property and cquipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method based on
cstimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and equipment under capital leases, over the lesser of the
estimated useful lives or the lease terms. The estimated useful lives are iwo years for computers and five years for equipment. No
impairments of propenty and equipment were required to be recognized during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007 and
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2006.

Expenses for repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred, Upon retirement or sale, the cost of the assets
disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is credited or
charged to operations.

Revenue Recognition
Grant income is recognized as revenue as work under the grant is performed and the related expenses are incurred.
Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed in the period incurred. Payments related to the acquisition of in-process
rescarch and development are expensed due 1o the stage of developmemnt of the acquired compound or technology at the date of
acquisition.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of
assets and liabilities using enacted 1ax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income,
Valuation allowances are established when necessary 1o reduce net deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

Net Loss Per Common Share

The Company computes basic net loss per weighted share attributable to common stockholders using the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The Company compules diluted net loss per weighted share
attributable to common stockholders using the weighted average number of shares of commaon and dilutive potential common
shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of stock options, conventible debt, warrants and convertible
preferred stock using the treasury stock method and are excluded if their effect is anti-dilutive. Diluted weighted average common
shares excluded incremenial shares of approximately 18,428,000, 19,439,000 and 5,119,000 as of September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2008, respectively, related to stock options, convertible debt, convertible preferred stock and warrants to purchase common stock,
These shares are excluded due to their anti-dilutive effect as a result of the Company’s net loss,

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Beginning October 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payments” (“SFAS No. 123(R)") on a modified prospective transition method to account for its employee stock
options. Under the modified prospective transition method, fair value of new and previously granied but unvested equity awards
are recognized as compensation expense in the income statement, and prior period results are not restated.

Prior to October 1, 2003, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation based on the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”") Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ ("APB No. 25”), as amended by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB™) Interpretation No, 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation” (*FIN 44™). APB No. 25 and FIN 44 state that no compensation expense is recorded for stock options or other
stock-based awards to employees that are granted with an exercise price equal 1o or above the estimated fair value per share of the
Company's common stock on the grant date, The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123™), which requires employee
compensation expense 10 be disclosed based on the fair value of the options granted at the date of the grant.

Segment Reporting
The Company currently operates in only one segment.
New Accounting Pronocuncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN No. 487), "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,” which creates a comprehensive model 10 address
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accoumting for income taxes, by prescribing a minimum
recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized for financial statements. FIN No. 48 also provides
guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest and penaliies, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and
transition. The adoption of FIN No. 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 (or October i, 2007 forthe
Company). Management does not expect this interpretation to materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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D.CPECLLC
1

The Company uses the equity method to account for its 35.0% ownership interest in CPEC. During fiscal 2003, CPEC
licensed bucindolol, a drug previously under development by the Company for the treatment of hean failure, 10 ARCA Discovery,
Inc. in return for possible future royalty and milestone payments. During fiscal 2006, CPEC agreed to modify the license
agreement between CPEC and ARCA Biscovery, Inc. and received 400,000 shares of ARCA Discovery, Inc. common stock as
consideration for the amendment. In addition, during fiscal 2006, CPEC received a milestone payment of $1,000,000 as a result
of ARCA Discovery, Inc. completing a finaneing. During fiscal 2006, CPEC declared and paid a dividend of which the Company
received $315,000. CPEC had $360,000 of net asscts at September 30, 2007 and 2006. Acolus® share of CPEC's net assets is
included in other current assets.

E. Commitments

The Company acquires assets still in development and enters into research and development arrangements with third parties
that often require milestone and royalty payments to the third party contingent upon the occurrence of certain future evens linked
10 the success of the asset in development. Milestone payments may be required, contingent upon the successful achievement of
an important point in the development life-cycle of the pharmaceutical product (e.g., approval of the product for marketing by a
regulatory agency). If required by the arrangement, the Company may have to make royalty paymenis based upon a percentage of
the sales of the pharmaceutical product in the event that regulatory approval for marketing is obtained. Because of the contingemt
nature of these paymenits, they are not included in the table of contractual obligations.

These arrangements may be material individually, and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by
these arrangements were reached in the same period, the aggregate charge to expense could be material to the results of cperations
in any one period. In addition, these arrangements often give Aeolus the discretion to unilaterally terminate development of the
product, which would allow Aeolus to avoid making the contingent payments; however, Acolus is unlikely to cease development
if the compound succéssfully achieves clinical testing objectives.

F. Notes Payable

In August 2002, Aeolus borrowed from Elan Corporation, ple. (“Elan™) $638,000. The note payable accrued interest at 10%
compounded semi-annually, The note was convertible at the option of Elan into shares of the Company’s Series B non-voting
convertible preferred stock (“Series B Stock™) at & rate of $43.27 per share. The original note matured on December 21, 2006.
However, in February 2007, the Company and Elan terminated the note, the Company paid $300,000 in cash to Elan, Elan
forgave $225,000 of the note payable and Elan and the Company entered into a new two-year note payable in the amount of
$453,000 under substantiatly the same terms as the original note.

The remaining principal plus accrued interest will be due and payable in February 2009. During the term of the note payable,
Elan has the option 10 convert the note inte shares of Series B Preferred Stock at a rate of $9.00 per share. Upon the maturity of
the note payable, Acolus has the option to repay the note ¢ither in cash or in shares of Series B Stock and warrants having a then
fair market value of the amount due; provided that the fair market vatue used for caiculating the number of shares to be issued will
not be Jess than $13.00 per share. As of September 30, 2007, the outstanding balance, including interest, on the note payable o
Elan was $483,000.

G. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Preferred Stock

The Certificate of Incorperation of Aeolus authorizes the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, at a par
value of $.01 per share. The Board of Directors has the authority 10 issue Preferred Stock in one or more series, to fix the
designation and number of shares of each such serics, and 10 determine or change the designation, relative rights, preferences, and
limitations of any series of Preferred Stock, without any further vote or action by the stockholders of the Company.

In January 2001, Aeolus issued to Elan 12,015 shares of Scries C redeemable convertible exchangeable non-voting preferred
stock. The Series C Stock had liquidation preferences in advance of common stock and the Scries B Stock, which is on par with
common stock upon a liquidation. The Series C Stock carried a mandatory stock dividend of 7%, compounded annually. The
Series C Stock was convertible by Elan into shares of Series B Stock at the rate of $64.90 per share. Pursuant to the terms of the
Company's Cenificate of Incorporation, the Reorganization resulied in the conversion of all 12,015 shares of outstanding Series C
Stock into 225,533 shares of common steck in November 2003.

In January 2001, Aeolus issued (o Elan 28,457 shares of Series B Stock. In February 2002, the Company issued 58,883 shares
of Series B Stock and 480,000 shares of common stock to Elan in exchange for the retirement of a $1,400,000 note payable to
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Elan, In May 2002, the Company sold 416,204 shares of Series B Stock to Elan for $3,000,000. On January 14, 2005, Elan
convented 28,457 shares of the Series B Stock into 28,457 shares of common stock. As of September 30, 2007, 475,087 shares of
Series B Stock were outstanding. Each share of Series B Stock is convertible into one share of common stock,

On November 21, 2005, the Company completed a private placement whereby the Company issued to certain aceredited
investors an aggregate of 1,250,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock™) at a stated
price of $2.00 per share and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$1.00 per share and a five year term resulting in net proceeds of $2,413,000. The Series A Preferred Stock accrued dividends at
the rate of 6% of the stated price annually, which were paid in our common stock and were accreted to eamnings available to
common stockholders on a quarterly basis. Each conventible preferred share was convertible into two shares of our common stock
which was subsequently increased to four shares of our common stock and had a liquidation preference of $3.00 per share. The
warranis contain a “cashless ¢xercise” feature that allows the holders, under cenain circumstances, 1o exercise the warrants
without making a cash payment 10 the Company.

The fair value of the warrants on November 21, 2005 was estimated to be $2,146,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 112%; risk free interest rate of 4.4%; and an
expected life of five years. The proceeds from the private placement were first allocated 1o the fair value of the warrants and the
remaining proceeds were attributed to the value of the preferred stock, resulting in a carrying value of the Series A Preferred Stock
of $354,000. The carrying value of the Series A Preferred Stock was not accreted 1o its redemption value as the occurrence of the
redemption event was not considered probable.

OfTering costs of the private placement were $87,000 which was charged 1o additional paid in capital,

Pursuant to the terms of the registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the transaction, the Company filed a
registration statement with Securities and Exchange Commission which was declared effective on March 1, 2006, The
registration rights agreement further provides that if a registration statement is not filed or declared cffective within specified time
periods, the Company would be required to pay each holder an amount in cash, as liquidaied damages, equal to 1.5% per month of
the aggregate purchase price paid by such holder in the private placement for the common stock and warrants then held. In
accordance with EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed To, and Potentially Settled In a
Company's Own Stock,” and the terms of the warrants and the transaction documents, at the closing date for the financing,
November 21, 2005, the fair value of the warrants issued in the private placement were accounted for as a liability. The warrant
liability was reclassified to equity when the Securities and Exchange Commission declared the registration staiement effective on
March 1, 2006. Through March 1, 2006, the warrant liability was revalued at each balance sheet date and the change in fair value
was charged to the statement of operations. Between November 21, 2005 and March 1, 2006, the fair value of the warrant
decreased by $401,000 which was credited to the statement of operations.

In connection with the June 5, 2006 financing, all outsianding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock were converted into an
aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of common stock. In addition, the exercise price of the warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of
2,500,000 shares of common stock issued in the November 2005 financing was lowered from $1.00 per share to $0.50 per share in
accordance with the terms of the warrants. As a result of the change of the conversion terms of the Series A Preferred Stock from
two shares of common stock to four shares of common stock, the Company recognized a dividend in the amount of $900,000.
Such amount was determined as the incrementa) intrinsic value of the bencficial conversion feature that was triggered upon
conversion of the Series A Preferred stock and was recorded as additional paid-in capital.

Common Stock

On June 5, 2006, Aeolus completed a private placement of 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at a purchase
price of $0.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $5,000,000, issued to the cenain investors in the private placement
warrants (the “2006 Investor Warrants™) to purchase up to an aggregate of 7,000,000 shares of common siock of the Company
with an exercise price of $0.75 per share and issued to Efficacy Biotech Master Fund Lid. a warrant {the “Efficacy Warrant™) to
purchase up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.50 per share (collectively the
“2006 Financing”). The 2006 Investor Warrants are excrcisable until June 5, 2011 and may be exercised by the holder only
pursuant to a cash payment. The Efficacy Warrant expired unexercised on June 5, 2007. The aggregate nel proceeds to the
Company from this financing, after deducting for expenses, were approximately $4,754,000.

The fair value of the warrants issued on June 5, 2006 was estimated 10 be 34,716,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; risk free interest rate of 5.0%; expected volatility of 120% for the
Investor Warrants and 124% for Efficacy Warrant; and an expected life of five years for the 2006 Investor Warrants and one year
for the Efficacy Warrant. The proceeds from the private placement were first allocated to the fair value of the warrants and the
remaining proceeds were attributed to the value of the common stock.

Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement for the 2006 Financing, the Company filed a registration statement with
the Securities and Exchange Commission which was declared effective on July 31, 2006. The Subscription Agreement further
provides that if’ a registration statement is not filed or declared effective within specified time periods, the Company would be
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required to pay cach holder an amount in cash, as liquidated damages, equal to 1.0% per month of the aggregate purchase price
paid by such holder in the private placement for the common stock and warrants then held. In accordance with EITF 00-19,
“Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed To, and Potentially Setited In a Company’s Own Stock,” and the terms
of the warrants and the transaction documents, at the closing date, June §, 2006, the fair value of the warrants issucd in the private
placement were accounted for as a liability. The warrant liability was reclassified to equity when the Securities and Exchange
Commission declared the registration statement effective. From June 5, 2006 to July 31, 2006, 1he date in which a registration
statement regisiering the shares underlying the warrants was declared cffective, the warrant liability was revalued at cach balance
sheet date and changes in fair value were charged to the statement of operations. Between June 5, 2006 and July 31, 2006, the fair
value of the warrant increased by $901,000 which was charged (o the statement of operations. The warrant liability and
revaluations have not and will not have any impact on the Company's working capital, liquidity, or business operations.

On May 22, 2007, Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain accredited
investors (the “Investors”) pursuant 1o which the Company seld to the Investors an aggregate of 2,666,667 shares of the
Company's common stock at a purchase price of $0.75 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $2,000,000 and issued to the
Investors warrants (the “2007 Investor Warrants™) to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,000,001 shares of common stock of the
Company with an exercise price of $0.75 per share (collectively, the “May 2007 Private Placemeni™). The 2007 Investor Warrants
are exercisable until May 22, 2012. In addition, the Company issued to a placement agent a warrant to purchase up 1o an
aggregate of 186,667 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.75 per share.

The aggregaie net proceeds to the Company from the May 2007 Private Placemem, after deducting for expenses related to
finders fees, legal and accounting fees, were approximately $1,761,000.

The fair value of the 2007 Investor Warrants on May 22, 2007 was estimated to be $1,428,000 using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the {ollowing assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; risk free interest rate of 4.8%; expected volatility of 132%;
and an expected life of five years.

Pursuani to the terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company filed a registration statement which was declared
effective on July |9, 2007. The Securities Purchase Agreement further provides that if a registration statement is not filed,
declared effective within specified time periods or its effectiveness maintained, the Company is required to pay each holder an
amount in cash, as liquidated damages, equal to 1.5% per month of the aggregate purchase price paid by such holder in the private
placement for the common stock and warrants then held.

Dividends

The Company has never paid a cash dividend on its common stock and does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its
common stock in the foreseeable future. 1f the Company pays a cash dividend on its common stock, it also must pay the same
dividend un an as converted basis on our Series B preferred stock. In additior, Aeolus cannot pay a dividend on its common stock
without the prior approval of Goodnow Capital pursuant to the terms of the Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agrecment dated
September 16, 2003 between the Company and Goodnow.

Warrants

In connection with the private placement in June 2006, Acolus issued to the 2006 Investor Warranis to purchase up o an
aggregate of 7,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company with an exercise price of $0.75 per share and issued the Efficacy
Warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.50 per share. The 2006
Investor Warrants are exercisable until June 5, 2011 and may be exercised by the holder only pursuant to a cash payment. The
Efficacy Warrant expired on June §, 2007,

In connection with the 2005 Financing, Aeclus issued warrants to purchase 2,500,000 shares at an exercise price of $1.00 per
share, In accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, the conversion price of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock™} and the
exercise price of the warrants previously issued to the Series A Preferred Stock holders in November 2005 were each
sutomatically reduced 10 $0.50 per share, the purchase price of the common stock issued in the 2006 Financing. As a result of the
change in the exercise price, these warrants were revalued resulting in an increase in the value of $105,000 which was charged to
the statement of operations.

During fiscal 2006, Acolus issued 10 an accredited investor a warrant to purchase up 10 an aggregate of 250,000 shares of
common stock with an exercise price ranging from $0.50 to $2.50 per share in accordance with the terms of a consulting
agreement.

The Company incurred $28,000 and $76,000 of expense related to warrants issued in fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively. No
warrant expense was incurred in fiscal 2005.
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As of September 30, 2007, warrants to purchase 14,025,427 shares of common stock were gutstanding. Details of the
warrants for common stock outstanding at September 30, 2007 were as follows:

Number of Exercise Expiration
Shares Price Date
50,000 $ 050 May 2011
2500000 $ 050 November 2010 '
2,186,668 $ 0.75 May 2012
7,000000 $ 075 June 2011
50000 §$ 100 Moy 2011
35000 § 100 July 2008
0000 § 150 May 2011
50000 § 200 May 2011
50000 § 250 May 2011
410,400 § 250 April 2009
1,641,600 $§ 400 April 2009
_175% § 1990 October 2008
14025427 § L1S

H. Stock Compensation Plans

Stock Option Plans

As an integral component of a management and cmployee retention program designed to motivate, retain and provide
incentive 1o the Company’s management, employees and key consultants, the Board of Direciors approved the 2004 Stock Option
Plan (the 2004 Pian™) and reserved 5,000,000 shares of commmon stock for issuance under the 2004 Plan. As of September 30,
2007, 2,936,559 shares were available to be granted under the 2004 Plan. The exercise price of the incentive stock options
("1S0s™) granted under the 2004 Plan must not be less than the fair market value of the common stock as determined on the date |
of the grant. The options may have a term up to 10 years. Options typically vest immediately or up to one year following the date
of the grant.

Under the Company's 1994 Stock QOption Plan (the **1994 Plan"), incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options 10
purchase 2,500,000 shares of Acolus’ common stock may be granted to employces, directors and consultants of the Company. As
of September 30, 2007, there were no shares available to be granted under the 1994 Plan. The exercise price of the ISOs granted
under the 1994 Plan must not be less than the fair market value of the common stock as determined on the date of the grant. The
options may have a term up to 10 years. Options typically vest over three years following the date of the grant.

During fiscal 2005, the Company recognized non-cash charges totaling $294,000 for accelerated vesting of stock options asa
result of a change in the Board of Directors and the resignation of the Company's former Chief Executive Officer.

Stock option activity under the 2004 Plen and 1994 Plan were as follows:
Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Exercise  Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value

Outstanding at September 30, 2004 2,012,220 § 4.69 8.6 years S 92
Granted 463,300 § 096 10,0 years e
Exercised (62,499) $ 100 9.9 years L
Cancelled (18,930) § 6.71
Outstanding at September 30, 2005 2,39409) § 405 8.0 years $ 92.
Granted 777641 § 081 100 years -
Exercised (83,332) § 100 9.2years (13)
Cancelled (16,594) $ 16.84 .
Outstanding at September 30, 2006 3,071,806 3 325 7.7 years 3 22
Granted 1,315,000 § 068 10.0 years -
Exercised (20,833) $ 1.00  B.6years (8)
Cancelled (492,356) $ 0.65
Qutstanding at September 30, 2007 3873617 § 272 7.3 years ) 2
Exercisable at September 30, 2007 3,336,117 § 3.03 6.9 years Y 2
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Stock options granted to consultants during fiscal 2005 were fully vested when issued, and $85,000 were expensed upon
issuance. Stock options granted to consultants during fiscal year 2007 and 2006 were fully vested when issued or vested overa
twelve month peried. Stock option expense for stock options granted to consultants was $248,000 and $199,000 for fiscal year
2007 and 2006, respectively. For (he fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, ali stock options were issued at or
above the fair market value of a share of commen stock. The weighted-average grant-date (zir value of options granted during the
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $0.68, $0.81 and $0.94, respectively.

A summary of the status of nonvested shares during the years ended September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006 was:

“Shares'

Nonvested at September 30, 2005 N7
Granted 777,641
Vested (350,972)
Nonvested at September 30, 2006 519,586
Granted 1,315,000
Forfeited (450,000)
Vested (867,086)
Nonvested at September 30, 2007 $37,500

The total deferred compensation expense for outstanding stock opllions was $229,000 as of September 30, 2007, which will be
recognized over a weighted average period of five months. The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal years 2007, 2606,
2005 was $689,000, $424,000 and $755,000, respectively.

The details of stock options outsianding at September 30, 2007 were as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Number Weighted .
Qutstanding Average Number
at ~ Weighted Remaining Exercisable at Weighted

Range of September Average Contractual  September 30, Average

Exercise Prices 30, 2007 Exercise Price . Life 2007 Exercise Price
$0.38 - 50.60 441050 % 0.57 9.2 years 191,050 § 0.57
$0.66 - 30.80 479,160  $ 0.75 8.5 years 474994 § 0.75
£0.81 - $0.89 388,035 % 0.85 8.1 years 388,035 § 0.85
$0.90 - £0.90 392050 % 0.90 9.1 years 183,717  §$ 0.90
$0.91-51.45 307,836 3 1.03 8.4 years 232,836 § 1.04
$1.50 1,256,015  § 1.50 5.8 years 1,256,015 § 1.50
$1.52-%5.10 394391 $ 2.86 6.7 years 394,391 § 2.86
36.25-531.88 166,280 § 20.48 3.6 years 166,280 % 2048
$50.9375 2999 % 50.94 2.5 years 2999 § 50.94
$51.25 45800 $ 51.25 2.5 years 45,800 3 51.25
$0.38 - $51.25 3,873,617 § 2.72 7.3 years 3,336,117  § 3.03

Under the principles of APB No, 25, the Company did not recognize compensation expense associated with the grant of stock
options 1o employees unless an option was granted with an exercise price at less than fair market value. SFAS 123 requires the use
of option valuation models to recognize as expense stock option grants to consultants and to provide supplemental information
regarding options granted to employees.
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Had compensation expense, assuming it was recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for awards under the
1994 Pian and the 2004 Plan, been determined based on the fair value at the grant date, consistent with the provisions of SFAS
123 and SFAS 148, the Company’s results of operations on a pro forma basis would have been as follows:

For the year ended

September 30, 2005
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (in thousands):
As reported $(6,905)
Add: APB 25 compensation expense on the accelerated vesting of
cmployee stock options 294
Less: pro forma adjustment for stock-based compensation expense {676)
Pro forma $(7,287)
Basic and diluted net loss per weighted share attributable to common
stockholders:
AS TEPOITEL. ... sasrn e sm s emeneas $(0.49)
Effect of pro forma adjustment...........cccceeveiminenencnnnccenienens (0.03)
o0 (TR {c] 1 1 DO AT SOO ) $(0.52)

The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of options granted are evaluated and revised, as necessary, to reflect market
conditions and experience. The fair value of each option grant for employees and consultants is estimated on the date of the grant
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants:

For the fiscal year ended

September 30, 2005
Dividend yield.......cooccmnnsmnriissenessneninin 0%
Expected volatility ..o ooverecrrnncrecrncn e, 195%
Risk-free interest rate..........cocroemrerncreveenesr o, 2.9% -4.3%
Expected option life after shares are vested..... 10 years

Beginning October 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS”) No. 123(R},
“Share-Based Payments™ (“SFAS No. 123{R)") on a modified prospective transition method to account for its employce stock
options. Under the modified prospective transition method, fair value of new and previously granted but unvested equity awards
arc recognized as compensation expense in the income statement, and prior period results are not restated. As a result of the
adoption, the Company's net loss increased by $224,000 or $0.01 per share for fiscal 2006.

For fiscal 2007 and 2006, stock-based compensation expense recognized in the income statemént is as follows {(in thousands):

For the fiscal year

ended September 30,

2007 2006
Research and development expenses $177 $43
Genceral and administrative expenses 539 457
Total stock-based compensation cxpense : $716 $500

The fair value of the options associated with the above compensation expense for fiscal 2007 and 2006, was determined at the
date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

For the fiscal year ended

Septembrer 30,
2007 2006
Dividend yield.......ovceverivnirnnnrcneniriie e 0% 0%
Expected volatility .......... 191% - 195% 189% - 191%
Risk-free interest rate.......oniminenninicvnnien, 4.5% - 5.1% 43%- 5.2%
Expected opticn life after shares are vested..... 10 years 10 years
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I Income Taxes

As of September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company had federal net operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards of $103,008,000
and $100,383,000, respectively, state operating loss carryforwards of $26,424,000 and $23,799,000, respectively. The use of
these federal NOL carryforwards might be subject to limitation under the rules regarding a change in stock ownership as
determined by the Intemal Revenue Code (the “Code”). The Company may have had a change of control under Section 382 of the
Code during fiscal 2004 and 2006, however, a complete analysis of the limitation of the NOL carryforwards will not be completed
umntil the time the Company projects it will be able to utilize such NOLs, The federal net operating losses will begin to expire in
2010. The state net operating losses begin to expire in fiscal year 2008. Additionally, the Company had federal rescarch and
development carryforwards as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 of $3,027,000 and $2,981,000, respectively. The Company had
state research and development carryforwards as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 of $315,000 and $263,000, respectively.

. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets at September 30, 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following (in
thousands):

2007 2006

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 36,846 $3512
AMT credit carryforwards 37 37
Research and development credit carryforwards 3,342 3,244
Accrued payroll related liabilities 2,172 2,464
Charitable contribution carryforwards : 1,109 1,109
Total deferred tax assets 43,506 42,626
Deferred tax liabilities — -
Valuation allowance for deferred assets (43,506) {42,626)
Net deferred tax asset $ — 3 —

L] ]

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of the favorable tax attributes in future tax returns, ali of the deferred tax
assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The change in the valuation allowance is primarily a result of the aet
operating loss carryforwards. '

Taxes computed at the statutory federal income tax rate of 34% are reconciled to the provision for income taxes as follows
{doltars in thousands): ’

2007 2006 2005
Effective income tax rate . - 0% 0% 0%
United States Federal income lax at statutory rale £(1,028)  $(1.975) §$(2,348)
"+ State income taxes (net of federal benefit) (170) (277) (296)
Stock option expense - — —
Change in valuation reserves 1,244 2,351 2,629
Other (46) (99) is
Provision for income taxes $§ — § — 58 -

J. Agreements
Duke Licenses

Aeolus has obtained exclusive worldwide licenses (the “Duke Licenses™) from Duke University (“Duke”) to develop, make,
have made, use and sell products using certain technology in the field of free radical and antioxidant research, developed by
certain scientists at Duke. Future discoveries in the field of antioxidant research from these scientists’ laboratories a1t Duke are also
covered by the Duke Licenses, The Duke Licenses require Aeolus to use its best effons to pursue development of products using
the licensed technology and compounds. These efforts are to include the manufacture or production of preducts for testing,
development and sale. Aeolus is also obligated to use its best efflorts to have the licensed technology cleared for marketing in the
United States by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and in other countries in which Aeolus intends to seli producis using the
licensed technology. Acolus will pay royalties to Duke on net product sales during the terms of the Duke Licenses, and milestone
payments upon certain regulatory approvals and annual sales levels. In addition, Aeolus is obligated under the Duke Licenses to
pay all or a portion of patent prosecution, maintenance and defense costs. Unless earlier terminated, the Duke Licenses continuc
until the expiration of the last to expire issued patent on the licensed technology.
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National Jewish Medical and Research Center Agreements

Aeolus has an exclusive worldwide license (“NJC License”) from National Jewish Medical and Research Center (*“NJC”) to
develop, make, have made, use and sell products using certain technology developed by certain scientists at NJC. The NJC
License requires Aeolus to use commercially reasonable efforts to diligently pursue the development and government approvat of
products using the licensed technology. Aeolus will pay royalties to NJC on net product sales during the term of the NJC License
and a milestone payment upon regulatory approval.'In addition, Aeolus is obligated under the NJC License to pay all or a portion
of patent prosecution, maintenance and defense costs. Unless earlier terminated, the NJC License continues until the expiration of
the last to expire issued patent on the licensed technology. Aeolus also had a sponsored research agreement with NJC that grants
Acolus an option to negotiate a royalty-bearing exclusive license for certain technology, patents and inventions resulting from
research by certein individuals ai NJC within the field of antioxidant, nitrosylating and related areas. Acolus terminated this
agreement effective June 30, 2005. T

Elan Corporation, plc ;

In May 2002, the Company entered into a collaboration transaction with affiliates of Elan Corporation, plc for the
development of our catalytic antioxidant compounds as a treatment for tissue damage from cancer radiation and chemotherapy.
Although Elan and the Company terminated this collaboration in January 2003, the Company will pay Elan a royalty on net sales
of our catalytic antioxidant products sold, if any, for the prevention and treatment of radiation-induced and chemotherapy-induced
tissue damage. '

K. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Querter . Year
(in thousands, except per share amounts}

Fiscal 2007 .

Total revenue s — s —_ s — 3 - s -
Net loss attributable to common

stockholders $ (949) § (544) % (509) % (1,022 § (3,024)
Net loss per common share (basic :

and diluted):

Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ ©o03) % 002y $§ .(002) § (0.03) $ (0.10)

Fiscal 2006

Total revenue S 1 s 91 5 — 3 — 3 92
Net loss attributable to common _ .

stockholders $ (1,523 (894) $ (3,178) % {214y $  (5.809)
Net loss per common share (basic

and diluted): |

Net loss attributable to common

stockholders 3 (0.11) $ 006) $ {(017) $ (oo1) s ) 0.31)

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure,
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a) As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company cafried out an cvaluation, under the supervision and with
the panticipation of the Company's management, including the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (the Company’s
Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (the Company’s Principal Financial and Accounting Officer), of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that
evaluation, the Company's Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer have concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2007 1o provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.
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(b) During the most recent fiscal quarter, there were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting or in other factors that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control
over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART I

Certain information required by Par 111 is omitted from this report because the Registrant expects to file a definitive proxy
statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) within 120 days afler the end of its fiscal year
pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information included
therein is incorporated herein by reference to the extent provided below.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information set forth under the headings "Proposal No. |: Election of Directors,” "Corporate Govemance” and
"Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Mccting of
Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference. The information required by this ltem 10 concerning the Registrant’s executive

officers is sct forth under the heading “Executive Officers” located at the end of Part | Item 1 of this Form 10-K.

Code of Ethics.

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting ofTicer and persons performing similar functions. We have posted the text of Code of Ethics on our Internet website at
www.aeoluspharma.com. A copy of the Code of Ethics can also be obtained free of charge by writing to Michael P. McManus,
Corporate Secretary, Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 23811 Inverness Place, Laguna Niguel, California 92677
Item 11. Executive Compensation,

The information set forth under the headings "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," "Compensation Committee Report,”
"Compensation Commitice Interlocks and Insider Participation,”" "Executive Compensation™ and "Director Compensation” in our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockhalders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information set forth under the headings “Other Information — Principal Stockhelders™ and "Equity Compensation Plan
Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Mceting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

_Ftem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information set forth under the headings "Information Conceming the Board of Directors and its Committees™ and
"Certain Related Transactions” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.

Ttem 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information set forth under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Fees” in our definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporaied herein by reference.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules,

(a) The following financial statement schedules and exhibits are filed as pan of this report or incorporated hercin by
reference:

(1} Financial Statement Schedules.

AN financial staternent schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X arc omitted because they are not required
under the related instructions, are inapplicable, or the required information is given in the financial statements, including the notes
thereto.
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(2) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number

Description of Document

Incorporated by Reference To

Registrant’s
Form

Dated

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

21

3.0
3.2

33

34
is

4.1
42

43
44

4.5

4.6

4.7

48

4.9

4.10

411

10.1*

10.2

Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization dated September 16, 2003
between Incara, Inc. and Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporaticn

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended
Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
Bylaws, as amended

Cenificate of Designations, Preferences
and Rights of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock of the Company dated
November |8, 2005

Form of Commen Stock Certificate
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of
Incara Pharmaceuticals Corporation dated
July L1, 2003 issued to W. Ruffin Woody,
Fr. '
Form of Series B Preferred Stock
Cenificate

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common
Stock of Incara Pharmaceuticals
Corporstion dated April 19, 2004 issued
to investors in April 2004

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of
Incara Pharmaceuwticals Corporation dated
April 19, 2004 issued to SCO Securities
LLC

Registration Rights Agreement dated
November 21, 2005 by and among the
Company and each of the Purchasers
whose names appear on the Schedule
attached thereto

Form of Warrant to Purchasec Common
Stock dated November 21, 2005

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common
Stock dated June 5, 2006.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock
dated June 5, 2006 issued 10 Efficacy
Biotech Master Fund Lid.

Registration Rights Agreement dated May
22, 2007 by and among the Company and
cach of the Purchasers whose names
appear on the Schedule attached thereto.
Form of Warrant to Purchase Commen
Stock dated May 22, 2007.

License Agreement between Duke
University and Aeolus Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., dated July 21, 1995

Amended and Restated Limited Liability
Company Agreement of CPEC LLC
dated July 15, 1999, among CPEC LLC,
Intercardia, Inc. and intermeuron

S-4
10-Q

8-K

8-K
8-K

8-K
10-Q

10-Q

S-4

8-K

8-K

8-K
8K
8-K
8-K
51

8-K

54

09/19/03
06/30/04

3727106

10/27/06
10/25/05

11/23/05
06/30/04

06/30/03

09/19/03

04/21/04

04/21/04

11/23/05

11/23/05

6/5/06

6/5/06

5/22/07

5/22/07

12/08/95

07/23/99

2.1
3.1

31

31
3

31
4.1

4.5

48

4.9

4.10

4.1

10.2

10.3

104

4.1

10.2

10.4

10.42




Exhibit
Number

Description of Document

Incorporated by Reference To

Registrant’s
Form

Dated

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

103

10.4*

10.5*

10.6

10.7

10.8

109

10.10

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

Pharmaccuticals, Inc.

Assignment, Assumption and License
Agreement dated July 15, 1999, between
CPEC LLC and Intercardia, Inc.

License Agreement dated January 19,
2001 between Incara Pharmaceuticals
Corporation and Incara Development,
Lud

License Agreement dated January 19,
2001 between Elan Corporation, pic, Elan
Pharma Intemational Lid. and Incara
Development, Ltd.

Registration Rights Agreement dated
December 21, 2000 among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Elan
Intermnational Services, Ltd. and Flan
Pharma International Lid.

Agreement and Amendment, effective as
of January 22, 2001, by and among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Elan
International Services, Ltd. and Elan
Pharma International Limited

Second Agreement and Amendment,
effective as of January 22, 2001, by and
among [ncara Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, Elan Intemational Services,
Ltd. and Elan Pharma International
Limited

Third Agreement and Amendment,
effective as of January 22, 2001, by and
among Incara Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, Elan Intemational Services,
Ltd. and Elan Pharma International
Limited

Agreement and Fourth Amendment,
effective February 13, 2002, by and
among Incara Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, Elan Imemational Services,
Ltd., Elan Pharma Intemnational Limited
and Elan Pharmaceutical Jovestments [11,
Lid.

License Agreemen dated June 25, 1998
between Duke University and Acolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

License Agrecment dated May 7, 2002
between Duke University and Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

License Agreement dated November 17,
2000 between National Jewish Medical
anrd Research Center and Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, inc,

Secunities Purchase Agreement dated as
of May 15, 2002, among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Elan Pharma
Intemational Limited and Elan
International Services, Lid.
Development and Option Agreement

8-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

8-K

55

07/23/99

12/31/00

12/31/00

12/31/00

03/31/01

03/31/01

06/01/01

12/31/01

03/31/02

03/31/02

12/31/00

07/03/02
07/03/02

1043

10.59

16.60

10.62

10.64

10.65

10.66

10.75

10.82

10.83

10.56

10.84
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10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28+

dated May 15, 2002, among Elan Pharma
International Limiled, Incara
Pharmaceuticats Corporation and Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Amended and Restated Registration
Rights Agreement dated as of May 15,
2002, among Incara Pharmaceuticals
Corperation, Elan Intemational Services,
Ltd. and Elan Pharma International
Limited

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement
dated May 14, 2002, between Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke
University (amending License Agreement
dated July 21, 1995)

Amendment No. | 10 License Agreement
dated May 14, 2002, between Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke
University (amending License Agreement
dated June 25, 1998)

Amendment No. | to License Agreement
dated May 14, 2002, between Aeolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and National Jewish
Medical and Research Center (amending
License Agreement dated November 17,
2000}

Convertible Secured Promissory Note
dated July 28, 2003 issued by Incara, Inc.
1o Goodnow Capital, Inc.

Guaranty dated July 28, 2003 issued by
Incara Pharmaceulticals Incorporation to
Goodnow Capital, Inc.

Security Agreement dated July 28, 2003
issued by Incara Pharmaceuticals '
Incorporation to Goodnow Capital, Inc.
Debenture and Warrant Purchase
Agreement dated September 16, 2003
among Incara Pharmaceuticals
Ceorporation, Incara, Inc. and Goodnow

. Capital, LL.C.

Registration Righis Agreement dated
September 16, 2003 among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Incara, Inc.
and Goodnow Capital, L.L.C.
Registration Rights Agreement dated
April 19, 2004 among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corperation, certain
investors and SCO Securities LLC
Amendment No. | to Debenture and
Warrant Purchase Agreement dated
September 16, 2003 among Incara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Incara, Inc.
and Goodnow Capital, L.L.C.

Leticr dated May {7, 2004 from Elan
International Services, Limited and Elan
Pharma International Limited to [ncara
Pharmaceuticals Corporation

Acolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 1994 Stock

8-K

8K

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

5-4

S5-4

10-Q
10-Q
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07/03/02
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09/19/03
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06/30/04
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10.40

10.41
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21.1
231
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3.2
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Option Plan, as amended

Acolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2004 Stock
Option Plan, as amended

Employment Agreement dated July 14,
2006 between Aeolus Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. and John L. McManus

Letter Agreement dated July 10, 2006
between Acolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
McManus & Company, Inc.

Form of Indemnity Agreement

Terms of Outside Director Compensation
Form of Incentive Stock Option
Agreement

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option
Agreement

Purchase Agreemeni dated November 21,
2005 by and among the Company and the
investors whose names appear on the
signature pages thereof

Subscription Agreemem dated June 5,
2006 by and between the Company and
the investors whose names appear on the
signature pages thereof.

Right of First Offer Agreement dated
June 5, 2006 by and smong the Company
and Efficacy Biotech Master Fund L1d.
Board Observer Letter dated June 5, 2006
by and among the Company and Efficacy
Bictech Master Fund Ltd.

Securities Purchase Agreement dated
May 22, 2007 by and among the
Company and the investors whose names
appear on the signature pages thereof.

Letter Agreement dated April 30, 2007 by -

and between the Company and Rodman
apd Renshaw, LLC

Convertible Promissory Note dated
February 7, 2007 issued by Acolus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to Elan Pharma
International Ld.

Aceolus Pharmaceuticals, Inc, Code of
Ethics for Chiel Executive Officer and
Senior Financial Officers, as amended on
December 13, 2004

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Haskell & White, LLP,
Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Cenification of the Principal Executive
Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a) and
15d-14(a)

Certification of the Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

Centification by the Principal Executive
Officer.and Principal Financial and

ﬁogmi'ng Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

e
-
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8-K

8-K
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Exhibit Reglstrant’s Exhibit Filed
Number Description of Decument Form Dated Number Herewith

1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* The Company has received confidential treatment of certain portions of this agreement which have been omitied and
filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934,

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AEQOLUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ John L. McManus

John L. McManus
President and Chief Executive OfTicer

Date: December 13, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Date
/s/ John L. McManus President and Chief Executive Officer December 13, 2007
John L. McManus {Principal Executive Officer)
s/ Michael P. McManus Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary December 13, 2007
Michael P. McMarus (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s! David C. Cavalier Chairman of the Board of Dircctors - December 13, 2007

David C. Cavalier

/s/ John M. Farah, Jr. Director December 13, 2007
John M, Farah, Ir., Ph.D,

/sf Joseph J. Krivulka Director December 13, 2007
Joseph ). Krivulka

s/ Amit Kumar Director December 13, 2007
Amit Kumar, Ph.D.

Is/ Michael E. Lewis Director December 13, 2007
Michael E. Lewis, Ph.D.

/s/ Chnis A. Rallis Director December 13, 2007
Chris A. Rallis
fs/ Peter D. Suzdak Director December 13, 2007

Peter D. Suzdak, Ph.D.
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